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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

THE WHITE HOUSE
WASHINGTON

November 15, 1963

Dear Mr. President:

Last March you asked me, in my capacity as a consultant on govermment
operations, "to take a close look at our policy-making in certain critical
fields", using as case material "aspects of our work on Atlentic Alllance and
related problems.” In April we agreed that I would focus on events surrounding
SKYBOLT cancellation and the Nassau Conference, with reference both to what
occurred inside our government and to relations with the British Government.

My report on these events is attached. I have chosen to present them
as a story, rather than to treat them as a source of observations. .The story
is of more use, I believe, than an extt'!nded commentary .

In the course of this study I have interviewed and read the files of
virtually all participants in these events at every level of our govermment.
Everyone has been cooperative beyond the cell of duty. I acknowledge this with
gratitude. I have also interviewed a number of participants and key observers
in the British Govermnment, and have seen selected files of the Prime Minister's
Private Office. BPBritish cooperation is a tribute to you, mot to me, but I an
no less grateful for that! Regarding the French who enter this study as "noises
off stage", I have not, for obvious reasons, tried interviewing in the Elysee.
Along with British and American official sources I have had access to & manmu-
script, based on Paris interviews, prepared by Robert Klieman for the Council
on Foreign Relations. His study will be published by the Council in December.

For the sake of perspective I have pursued strands of policy back to
the Spring of 1961 or even earlier, and forward through the course of MLF this
year. These earlier and later matters are not touched in the attached report,
unless they bear directly on "Skybolt" and "Nessau." But as a generalization
T am now able to say that the administrative behavior and policy perspectives

here described are not uncharacteristic.
Respectfully,

e PRy

Richard E. Heustadt
Consultant

The President
The White House
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I. IRTRODUCTION

On December 11, 1962 in London, Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara met
Peter Thorneycroft, the British Defence Minister, to contimue a discussion
they had started on the telephone, November 9. Their subject was a substitute
for SKYBOLT, the planned Americen air-to-surface missile on which London had
relied to prolong life for its manned-bomber muclear deterrent, but which
Washington now wanted to ebandon. In the course of their meeting each man got
a severe shock. Each discovered that the other did not say and evidently had
not done what was expected from him on the basis of that phone call. What were
their expectations, and how formed? Why did they let a month go by before they
checked them out? Answers to these questions are the heart of the Skybolt story.

On December 18, 1962 in Nassau, 'the Bahamas, President Kennedy wet Prime
Minister Macmillan; they picked up where their Ministers left off. They greeted
one another just two days after Macmillan had concluded an unpleasant interview
at Rambouillet with Charles DeGaulle of France. At this juncture the President
and the Prime Minister shared highspriority objectives: British entry into
EEC, & British role in "BEurope", transatlantic "partnership.” They also shared
a pressing problem; French hostility. But the two men could not focus.on that
problem. The Prime Minister could not acquaint the President with what they
had to face in light of Rambouillet. Instead he had to concentrate on squeezing
out of Kennedy POLARIS as a substitute for SKYBOLT. And Kennedy could not
persuade Macmillan to defer decision on that substitute, never mind its likely
look to Europe. Instead he had to concentrate on improvising what he wanted

from Macmillan in return. Why did the one man feel impelled to put the squeeze

upon the other? Why did the other have to improvise his quid pro quo? Why
were they both unable to keep their minds on DeGaulle? Answers to these

questions are the heart of the Nassau story.
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"Nassau" resolved "Skybolt." From American officials the terms of reso-
lution won a mixed réception. Just before the Nassau Conference closed ; one
senior member of the American delegation phoned a State Depertment colleague
to inquire, "How does it look up there?" The answer: "A disaster.” Another
senior member, relaxing on the flight back to the States, told an associate:
"If 'Skybolt' hadn't happened it should have been invented to get us set on
this new track of viable policy." Three weeks later, DeGaulle's Jamuary

press conference stilled claims of "viability", and sharpened allegations

of "disaster."

In retrospect, both these descriptions miss the mark. To be sure, that
"new track" has yet to reach a desyination. As this is written, MLF is not in
sight; IANF has not left the station; negotiation with the French has still
to start. On the other hand, DeGaulle's hostility toward British membership
in EEC and his insistence on a national deterrent for himself were not "caused"
by the Nassau Conference and would not have disappeared had there been no such
conference. December's public spectacle of Anglo-Saxon Attitudes helped his
choice of means, Jamuary's "thunderbolt.” I know of nothing to suggest that
Nassau changed his aims. But many things suggest that without Nassau's terms,
Ilondor would have been estranged from Washington at least for the short run,
perhaps for a long time. In this sense certainly, the Conference was no

"disaster." In this sense also, "Nassau" almost surely had to follow upcn

“Skymltu"
As sn issue in Anglo-American relations, "Skybolt" has been charged to

many csuses: to "arbitrary” budgeting, to lack of consultation with the
State Department, to lack of warning for the British, to "usurpation" by
Defense of ‘State's negotiating role. These attributions are all wide of the

mark. The budget decision was not arbitrary, State was consulted, the British

wvere warned, Defense did not usurp.
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"Skybolt" as an issue between Washington and London was caused by none
of these but by successive failures on the part of busy persoms to pe::ceive
and make allowance for the needs and wants of others: failures among
"Chiefs" to share their reasoning with "Indians"; failures among Indians to
sense -- or heed -- t.hé reser*;ations of their Cﬁiefs ; failures among
Americans to comprehend restraints upon contingency-planning in London;
failures among Englishmen to comprehend imperatives of budgeting in
Washington; failures on all sides to consider how A's conduct might tie
B's tongue.

Some of these were sheer "commmnication" failures. By accident, or by
design, wozﬁ did not pass. But more’ important were the failures to seek
and obtain feed-back. A word was passed but speakers did not pause to check
what auditors had on their minds before and after listening. And auditors
heard mostly what their minds were set to hear, in light of their own hopes
and fears, their stakes, their risks, regardless of the speaker's. When
Chiefs worked without Indians deliberately, they often failed to arrange
feed-back for themselves. When Chiefs relied on Indians, their aldes quite
often failed to do it for them.

Beneath these proximate causes lies a basic failure reaching back to
1960, to the Eisenhower regime: a failure to assure that Britain's defense
posture and Anglo-American cooperation rested on a rationale which could be

justified in technical and military terms, since these were the ostensible

terms, as well as in implicit terms of diplomatic and domestic polities.

Such were the causes of "Skybolt" as an issue during 1962. To show

the causes is tc tell the story.



IT. BUDGETARY PRELUDE

Early in November 1962, the Secretery of Defense put to the President
and to the Secretsry of State the likelihood that we would terminate our
SKYBOLT program.' As an active issue in Washington and London, the Skybolt
story then began. But what occurred thereafter is best understood by light
of answers to some prior questions: What brought the Defense Secretary to
the White House then? What were his expectations then? What were the
President's, and State's, and Ilondon's? With what stakes and perspectives
did the actors in this story start? For enswers one goes back two months
in time to an early, quiet stage of budget season at the Pentagon.

The reasons for the gquiet are a factor in the story.

On August 24, i962, the Controller of the Pentagon and the Director of
Defense Research and Engineering, Charles Hitch and Harold Brown, met
Secretary McNamara to discuss in confidence their latest studies of the
SKYBOLT program. These studies had been made at his request. The weapon,
at this juncture, was still under development after two years of effort, and
at least another two years would be needed to reach full production. The
Brown and Hitch reports, though separately prepared, came to the same

conclusion:

“The ... SKYBOLT force, as part ... of a ... B-52 force, is
inferior to the force which could be bought for a somewhat
smaller amount of money by filling out the B-52 squadrons
with HOURD DOG missiles and btuying a certain mumber of
additiona) MINUTEMEN .... The SKYBOLTS themselves are to
be used either for defense suppression (which is the
principal purpose of the HOUND DOG missiles) or against
primary targets (which can alse be attacked by MINUTEMAN)."

A good deal more than money was involved in this conclusion. HOUND DOG,
like SKYBOLT, was an air-to-surface weapon, although it lacked SKYBOLT's

range. MINUTEMAN was a solid-fueled, surface-to-surface weapon with

intercontinental range:



" ... HOUND DOG has completed its development, and MINUTEMAN
will do so by the end of this year, whereas SKYBCLT will
take another two years ... the difference in schedule is
likely to be reflected, as well, in a lower reliability for
SKYBOLT .... the risk that SKYBOLT will fail to work at all
is very low; the risk that it will not be a highly reliable
.+. System until the late 1960's is quite large.”

By the late 1960's defense suppression for manned bombers would be
rendered moot if bombers then were phasing out of our strategic foreces.
Meanwhile, we had HOUND DOG. As for primary attack, where reliability
mattered less, MINUTEMAN was now at hand; SKYBOLT was not.

This line of argument was not new to the three men meeting in the
Secretary's office. In the last yeer of the Eisenhower Administration
when SKYBOLT got its start, Brown had chaired a PSAC panel vwhich reported
negatively on the weapon and on its guildance system, key to reliability.
In the first year of the Kennedy Administration, Hitch hed viewed with
sympathy efforts by Presidential aides -- Carl Kaysen, Jerome Wiesner and
the Budget Director, David Bell -- to persuade McNemara that the weapon
should be dropped. That effort, in Bell's phrase, had beenr a "near-miss"
during budget season 1961. KNow, ten months later, Hitch was reviving it.

As for McNamare himself, SIG_(BOLT had been among the problem-items on
which he apnd Bell were briefed by Budget aides before the Kennedy Inaugural.
SKYBOLT then was virtually stalled for lack of development funds which
McRNamara's predecessor, Thomas Gates, had chosen to withhold. (Gates had
been both irritated at the Air Force and in doubt about the program.) Ome
of McNemara's early actions was to restore funds for full development. He
in his turn, after Gates, had thenﬁ been treated both to slippages in schedule
and to increases in cost. During the fall of 1961, McNamara had-resisted

urgings from the Presidential staff to drop the program. Instead, he hed



devised a sort of treaty with the Air Force, setting s fixed ceiling for
total development costs. By the spring of 1962 it had become clear that
the "treaty" would be breached. The Air Force nov asked urgently that he
release produc{:ion funds with which -- in effect if not form -- to carry
on development. This request was on his desk along with the reports of
Brown and Hitch.

The Air Force asked for funds with confidence. McNemars had just won
a year-long battle with the Service and its Congressional supporters on
the future of the RS-70. His victory spelled doom, in time, for the manned
bomber. But his victory elso left scars, among other places on Capitol
Hill. In Air Force circles it was thought unlikely thet he would tempt fate
by striking at another cherished program while the echoes of the RS-TO
dispute could still be heard.

Moreover, the Air Force knew -- as McNamera, Hitch, and Brown did also —
that the SKYBOLT program had been undertaken to meet British purposes as well
as ours, and that the British Government was totally dependent on the program
to maintain its current version of a nuclear deterrent after the mid-1960's.
Manmed aircraft -- the V-bombers -- were the only British strike-forces at
hard or in development. Soviet defense-measures progressively decreased their
capability. SKYBOLT was expected to renew it and maintain it for at least
five years. British claims to status as a muclear power, in possession of
an independent muclear deterrent, were thus mortgeged to SKYBOLT, not as a
weapon of defense suppression but as the means of mounting an attack.

Besides, the British Government had more at stake than muclear status.
Military power was the surface of tﬁe issue; beneath lay Tory power. The

Labour opposition had decried the whole deterrent posture; Labour spokesmen



hed poured scorn on SKYBOLT as a weapon; right-wing Tory back-benchers had
eriticized dependence on Americans. Macmillan, meanwhile, had defended
everything and his Defence Minister's supporting case had often been
extravagant. Macmillan's reputation, front-bench credibility and Tory
solidarity were linked with the success of SKYBOLT.

An Air Force general told a Budget Bureau alde in 1962: "They can't
cancel SKYBOLT on us. The British are in with us. They won't do that to
them."” In the event his confidence was misplaced, but the prior history
of SKYBOLT gave him ample grounds for it. Indeed, the two Air Forces, ours
and theirs, had used each other's leverage contimously and effectively from
SKYBOLT's first beginnings. Herold Watkinson, the then Defence Minister,
recalls that late in 1959 when the British vere deciding to abandon BIUE
STREAK {their surface-to-surface missile) because of mounting ecosts combined
with RAF distaste for "sitting in silos", there came a "bolt cut of the blue":
reports of Americen enthusiasm for SKYBOLT. John Rubel, then a technical
assistant to the Secretary of Defense, recalls that Gates was pressed to
proceed with SKYBOLT partly by reports "that this was what the British wanted.”

Considerable testimony, some of it from Watkinsonm, suggests that at Camp
David in March 1960, when we agreed to British purchases of SKYBOLT, Gates and
Watkinson alike would have been pleased had the other shown sirong preference
for a British share, instead, in POLARIS. If so, the SKYBOLT program started
as it was to end, with transatlantic reticence from Minister to Minister
occasioned by the intimacy of their Air Forces.

For Hitch and Brown on August 24, awaiting word from McNamsra, British
stakes in SKYBOLT 4id not seem the barrier to cancellation which our Air

Force may have thought them. The Camp David agreement, on its fece, had
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done no more than pledge that the Americans would make SKYBOLT available to
Britain if successfully developed, with consultation specified should we give
up the effort. Consultation there would have to be, and some agreed alterna-
tive devised. _No doubt the British would not find this easy and would not be
pleased. But from the vantage point of the Defence Controller, and his col-
league the Director of Research, British displeasure was dwarfed by the
prospect of Congressional displeasure.

The Air Force -- and the Douglas Corporation as prime contractor -- were
anything but friendless on the Hill. They and their friends shared common
views, and also shared the scars of McNamara's war on RS-T0. Renewed combat
was risky. Congressional pressure might suffice to force reversal of a
SKYBOLT cancellation, or at least to penalize Defense in other ways.

How could the risk be minimized? Hitch hed a formula: SKYBOLT should
vanish in the course of budget season, disappearing from the Jamary Budget
with the current program cancelled as the budget went to Congress. Then

proponents of the program would face a fait accompli. They, not Defense,

would have to change the status quo. And they would have to make their case
for change against the backdrop of a massive budget deficit combined with
calls for tax cuts. In August 1962 that backdrop seemed assured.

On this logic, the time to cancel SKYBOLT was not August but December.
Hitch conveyed the point to McHRamara.

On August 24 the Secretary needed no prompting. Somevhat to the sur-
prise of his two aides, but to their pleasure, he indicated that he saw the
substance and the tactics much as they did. They left his office clear in
their minds on seversl scores: M@ua was prepared to deal with SKYBOLT

on the technical and budgetary merits of the case and then to cope with



consequences, British and Congressional. He was prepared to recommend a
cancellation when the time came; the time was not yet. He also would
absord the new requirement for MINUTEMAN without a net eddition to the
missiles now on order; this would magnify the savings gained from
cancellation.

Meanvhile, McNamara would not telegraph his punches, nor should they.
He would release production funds (he did so in September), but only month-
by-month. The Air Force thus would know SKYBOLT was under scrutiny, but
"premature” reactions would be stifled by the money.

Hitch and Brown returned to their offices and kept their mouths shut.
Each told his deputy, Alain Enthoven #nd John Rubel, that the outlook was
for cancellation later, silence now. Apparently no more was said by any
of the four to anybody for at least & month, and preciocus little until
late October. Secrecy has rarely been as well maintained as by these

men ~- and McNamara.
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III. OCTOBER PRELUDE

Tn mid-September 1962, Peter Thorneycroft paid his first visit to
Washington since taking office as Defence Minister, July 13, when
Watkinson, one-among seven, left precipitously in "Maemillan's Purge",
the move toward a "new look" for the Tories. Thorneycroft had been a
senior Minister bvefore as Chancellor of the Exchequer, a post he had re-
signed early in 1959 on a "matter of principle."” This evoked abstract
admiration but no tangible support from his back-benchers and the press.

In 1960 he had joined the Govermment again as Minister of Aviation (where,
incidentally, he had first encountered SKYBOILT). Eis new portfolio restored
him to a senior place, less senior tﬁan before but moving in the right
direction.

Washington gave Thorneycroft a warm reception. The President scooped
him up and took him off on tour of missile test-sites and research facili-
ties. McNemera took him out to SAC. In the process there was a good deal
of comversation, some of 1t on SKYBOLT.

McNamara, understandably, did not pursue that subject very far:
Thorneyeroft-to-RAF-to-USAF was too obvious a channel of communication.

The Secretary told the Minister that he was now releasing some production
funds; he also indicated that he was disturbed by rising costs and lagging
schedules in development. The first item of information evidently meant
more to Thorneycroft than the second. In a program of develoyment he thought
it patural that cost and time should exceed estimates. His concern was with
vhat foll_owed after, and the release of production funds had a good sound.

He did take care, however, to expound to McNamara, and briefly to the
President, the British need for SKYBOLT end the British understanding that
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the essence of Camp David was our help for their deterrent. This told his
suditors nothing they had not heard before, but perhaps conveyed & nuance
which they missed.

Regarding McNamara's private plans for SKYBOLT, Thorneycroft departed no
wiser than he ceme. Eis Embassy in Weshington and Ministry in London were no
wiser than he. Their own links to the program were extensive: technical
staffs in Washington and California kept them close to our Air Force and to
the Douglas Corporation; our attaches and Corporation representatives in
London returned the compliment. But as information sources these had two
deficiencies: they did not represent the third floor of the Pentagon, and
they had a vested interest. in "sellin'g“ the program.

Only Solly Zuckerman, thé Ministry's chief scientist, was close to
higher sources: Brown's office at Defenmse, Wiesner's at the White House.

Put Zuckermen, like his American friends, had never been a SKYBOLT partisan --
far from it. He had never mede a secret of his disdain for its guidance
system. In the Ministries of Air and Aviation he was tagged as something

of a "traitor.” His warnings roused more anger than attention. Besides,

in September he heard nothing from Brown's office ‘and Wiesner's office

heard nothing from Brown.

Tondon did not know, but neither did official Washington. Not until
late September was Paul N.‘,.tze's Office of Internmational Security Affairs
clued in on vhat impended; and Nitze was McNemara's own man, &n Assistant
Secretary of Defense. Not until then was Wiesner's office able to extract
a solid hint; and Wiesner hed the services of Spurgeon Keemy, perhaps the

best intelligence-operative in the Executive Office Building. Keeny passed
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a word to friends in State; for reasons I will mention in due course his
friends remained unruffled. By then the Budget Bureau staff had learned
enough, through Keeny among others, to seek the word-direct. They got it,
under pledge of secrecy, from McNamara's Deputy, Roswell Gilpatric. But
this did not occur until October 15.

The Cuban crisis then took center-stage.

At the height of the crisis, October 26, Budget Director Bell sent a
memorandum to McGeorge Bundy at the White House. This had been drafted by
Bell's Military Division a week after Gilpatric’s revelation. The draft
was first intended as & memorandum for the FPresident; in the circumstances
Bell had told his staff to change the ‘addressee. Bell's memorandum gave it
as his understanding'...,that the current reviews in Defense in connection
with the 1964 budget will lead to a firm recommendation by the Secretary
that development of the SKYBOLT missile be cancelled.” Bell indicated that
the Budget Bureau had no quarrel with this (indeed he perscnally had urged
it on the Secretary in July), but noted that it raised an issue in the
foreign field which someone elée should check and button up:

" ... cancellation is likely to create internal political
problems for the British ... our actions up to now, while
not actually committing us, have clearly implied an inten-
tion to proceed .... It would seem important that suitable
arrangements be made for advance rotification ... and con-
sultation prior to the time that a decision becomes known
publicly or through Air Force chamnels ...."

Bundy, embroiled with Cuba, scarcely saw this memorandum but his deputy,
Carl Kaysen, who was serving momentarily as "Bundy-for-everything-else,” put
it on his own work list. Kaysen was no stranger to the SKYBOLT issue, or to
Defense and State. On October 31 he talked by phone with Nitze at Defense

and then called William Tyler, the Assistant Secretary of State for European



Affairs. Kaysen gave Tyler the essence of the story, confidentially, and
asked him for a quick appraisal of the British problem and of London's prob-
able reaction. Tyler passed the task to BNA, the British desk in the Depart-
ment. A response from the desk officers reached him two days later. On
November 2 he sent their memorandum to the White House.

This was a moment of glory for the men in BNA, traditionally the least
consulted country-desk at State since high officials from the President down
are bound to be "desk officers" on Britain. Having suddenly acquired an
unlooked-for opportunity, these men made all they could of it:

"Cancellation of SKYBOLT would put in jeopardy not only Bomber
Command but a vital element of British defense philosophy ...
the independent muclear deterrent.

"Two of the Conservative Party's talking points are that they
have special and superior qualifications, as compared with
Labour, for dealing with 1) defense and 2) the Americans ....
Cancellation ... could be an ummitigated political blow to
the Conservatives.... Whatever our own feelings about the
efficacy of [their] deterrent, the British could hardly
regard our cancelling SKYBOLT as & friendly gesture ....

" ... [They] would certainly feel let down -- hard .... We
sti11 rely heavily on British real estate all over the
world from Christmas Island to Holy Loch. We should
carefully consider the consequences of an estrangement.

" ... Assuming that a decision has already been made ...
urgent consideration must be given to the manner and timing

of informing the British .... [Macmillan] should have as much
time as possible to prepare the ground before an announcement

is made ...."

Two assumptions ran through the entire memorandum: an "independent deter-
rent" was inseparable from SKYBOLT, and Macmillan could put time to use if he
were given some. As events would show, these two assumptioms hid the heart of
the Britisi: problem. But the authors of this memorandum were only the first

of our officials to be led astray by their assumptions. Soon they would have

a lot of company.
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To a degree, the Euro_pean Buresu now worked in the dark. Witness those
assumptions. The men in BNA had not been there when the SKYBOLT Agreement was
made. Nor, for that matter, had Tyler. None of them were informed at first-
hand about the origins of what they now described. The State Department
officers who seem to have known most about events in 1960 had been transferred
overseas & mere three months before: Foy Kohler, Tyler's predecessor, and one
of his assistants, Russell Fessenden. In November 1962, Rubel of Defense vas

the one senior officiai on the scene with roughly the same role regarding

SKYBOLT as in 1960.
While this memorandum was in preparation at our State Department, Rubel

arrived in London for technical talks on other subjects. On November 3,
Thorneycroft invited him into a private session and confronted him with rumors
that SKYBOLT was in deep trouble. Rubel knew of recént press reports to that
effect, but Thorneycroft's concern was with more substantial stuff. Whitehall,
he said, was full of talk. So it was: as Thorneyeroft did not tell Rubel,
British diplomatic staff -- not the techniclans -- at their Embassy had got
onto the story some days earlier through hints from friends in McNamara's
entourage. Rubel, bound by secrecy, could say no more than that normal
reviews were now in progress. His response did not suffice for Thorneycroft.
On November 5, ‘I!horneycroft cabled McNamara. The cahle cenveyed. a mes-
sage, delicately done. The Minister began by noting that "the British press
report what they describe as the 1£irst production order for Skybolt' ....
you will not be surprised when I say this is .welcome news indeed.”  There
followed a few cheery generalities and then a ﬁ.nal sentence: "We look
forward to ... success with the Skybolt programme, which is, as you know, a

central feature both of our defense policy and of our collaboration with you."”
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This piece of English understatement reached the Pentagon the day that
McNamara sent to the Joint Chiefs of Staff, for their advice, his draft '~
budget proposals on strategic retaliatory forces. SKYBOLT was missing i‘::-o'm"E
the column for the coming year. There could be rio American *decision" until
the Chiefs responded and the President decided. But with McNamera's own posi-
tion stated, matters had proceeded very far. The Chiefs were to be heard from
by November 20; the President's review would follow promptly. Decision was
in sight within the month.

Thorneycroft's last sentence made it plain that he would have to be
enlightened, and at once, Nitze's office drafted a reply by cable; McNamara
thought this insufficient, both in terms of British needs and of his own inten-
tion. Instead he asked to see the President and telephoned Dean Rusk, the
Secretary of State. On November 7, four days after Rubel had seen Thorneycroft
and five days after Kaysen had got Tyler's memorandum, McNamara and Nitze,
joined by Rusk and Bundy, met to discuss SKYBOLT in the presence of the
President.

With preliminaries over, and no harm done yet, the story now begins.
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IV. WASHINGTON WARNS LONDON

November 7 was the eleventh day after the climatic Sunday of the Cuba
crisis. The five men meeting at the White House had that Sunday still in
mind; the erisis had passed, or Seen suspended anyway, but Soviet missiles
were barely off the island, and I1-28's remained to be pried off in the next
weeks. Moreover, for those five men "Cuba" had been an extraordinary test,
the problem of their lives, rendering their other problems minor by compari-
son. They had lived through the experience together, had got over the hump
together. Now in the aftermath they were relieved, and confident, and close.

They also were at work together on a new concern: Chinese troops were

marching against India.
In this context they met to deal with Thorneycroft's problem. McNamara

sketched the situation. He already had given Rusk the gist of it, as Tyler
had done also, and Bundy knew of it from Kaysen. The President had heard
enough from his own aides the year before and had be.en thinking h;ard encugh
about his budget defieit to find the proposition that he cancel SKYBOLT po
surprise, and quite gcceptable. McNamara's budgeting would save $2.5 billion
over several fiscal years, a fifth of it in the next year alone. McNamara's
tactics should assure the saving, while a year's 'delay could Jeopardize the
vhole: with half & billion more invested, Air Porce friends in Congress
wvould be hard to stop; witness the RS-TO. Foreign policy considerations did

not justify foregoing all that money. Rusk agreed.

The issue then was how &o compensate the British. McNamara and Rusk both
told the President, as each recalq.s , that London would be left with quite a
problem: "It may be so serious as .to meke the Govermment fall." No one

vanted that. They also felt, and stated, that Camp David and our conduct
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since left us committed morally to join in some replacement for the SKYBOLT
Agreement, if London so desired as a way to meet the problem. There was some
mention of POLARIS as a possibility, but specifics were not much discussed.
The British would need time to think through their desires, programmatic and
political. We ought to warn them now and then consult with them once we were
done with our decision-making, three weeks hence.

With all of this the President agreed and turned to the mechanics: how
to tell the British so they could collect their thoughts without suggesting to
our Alr Force that "decision" had preceded word from the Joint Chiefs. Not
remarkably, the President's solution was to call upon his friend the British
Ambassador, Sir David Ormsby Gore. McNamara volunteered to do that. He also
volunteered to talk by phone with Thormeycroft. "I'll take care of it," he
offered. The others said, "That's fine." The five then turned %o other
subjects.

These men never did assume what State's desk officers had done, that
Britain's status as possessor of an "independent deterrent” was synonymous
with the SKYBOLT Agreement. On the contrary, they took it for granted that
if London chose to keep the status -- as seemed likely -- something else could
substitute for the Agreement. That would be negotisble when we had reached
the stage of consultation. In the meantime it was up to London to decide what
London wanted: the problem was theirs, not ours. The English, after all, were
"olever chaps"; with time they'd work it out. And time was what we now
proposed to give.

In actuality, from where Macyxillan stood, and Thormeycroft, if time was
é.'L'L we offered it was little use to them. But the men at the White House did

not know that. In this respect they saw no more than BENA had done. What
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State had not picked up they were in no position to suck out of their own
thumbs. Macmillan's problem had its roots in a decis ion teken with Dwight
Eisenhower at Camp David; none of them had been there. And it did not occur
to Bundy or the_ President to use their private telephone. McNamara would
"take care of it."

The Secretary of Defense was quick to carry out his mandate. The next
day, November 8, he saw the British Ambassador and told him all he could:
successive increases in cost were causing us to reconsider SKYBOLT's worth;
cancellation (he implied) was now a likely prospect; he awaited recommenda-
tions from the Chiefs and no decision would be made for "three or four weeks",
but London cught to know that we were 'reconsidering. Gore responded strongly,
with an undertone of passion: if SKYBOLT were cancelled his Govermment faced
an "immense" political problem, a "political disaster" which could not be
warded off by any substitute.

Gore returned to Massachusetts Avemue in shock. What he had heard con-
firmed, outrar the recent rumors. A compatriot who saw him later in the day
recalls that he "was like a man who'd learnmed the Bomb was going to drop,
the end of civilization, and he doubted he could stop it.” Whatever his
feelings, he lost no time in sending off a full account of his exchange with
McNamara. Gore's dispatch did not say that SKYBOLT necessarily was gone for
good; no one had told him so and privately he thought the issue still nego-
tiable; he emphasized, however, that it was in "serious jeopardy." His theme
was "peril"; he pursued it for two pages.

This Embassy dispatch was passed to Thorneycroft before a phone call

came from McNamara. By prearrangement, the letter waited a day. He called
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November 9. He gave the Minister the substance of what he had said to the

Ambassador. Then, as he noted at the time:

"I added that in the event it appesred desirable for the U.S.
to cancel the SKYBOLT program, I believed there would be
seversl alternatives that should be considered by the British
«... Further, I stated that prior o any U.S. decision to
cancel I would be quite willing to come to London to discuss
the matter with Peter. I estimated that the decision would
not be made here before approximately December 10. ILondon
consultations would probably not be advisable before

November 23rd."

December 10 was actually not the date when McNamara foresaw an American
decision. November 23 was when he hoped for final clearance f‘rom.the Presi-
dent, which is why he used it as he did in this conversation. "December 10
was, rather, what he subseq_uently'pxt to Nitze as the :"proba‘dle legk-date"
of the decision ,I a week after normal budgetary practice would have got the
final word to the Joint Chiefs. The sevent_een-‘daqr difference in his dating
of "decision" was not meant to confuse London but merely to give McNamara
added leeway. He did not intend confusion; in the event he caused some.

Thorneycroft's response was brief and to the point. Few words were

wasted on complaint, none on reerimination. His hearer caught the tone and

later commented to Nitze, "He was less excited than I'd expected, Judging
from David Gore." McNamara noted at the time that Thorneycroft:

» .. suggested that before we met in London it would be
useful for him to have a memorandum ocutliming our views.
Further, he stated his appreciation of the advance notice
... of our reconsideration ... and he stated he would
immediately arrange for his department to consider how the
V-bomber force might be operated without Skybolt and what
the U.S. and British Govermments should state to the public
in the event the program is cancelled. Thorneycroft implied
bis Government would wish to consider a sub-launched missile
if it appeared the V-bomber force would be made obsolete by

the loss of SKYBOLT."
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This squares with Thorneycroft's own reccllection, save in one particular:
"T did more than intimate; I used the word 'POLARIS'. I said I thought we'd

have to start from there. I assumed he'd get the message.”

At about the time these men talked on the telephone, Zuckermen was hearing
on another ph;:>ne of SKYBOLT's definite demise. His informant was Will Hawthorne,
Professor of Engineering in Cambridge University end a Ministry consultant, who
currently combined a visiting year at MIT with frequent trips to Washington.
Hawthorne indicated he had learned enough from friends to know that McNamara's
vords covered a definite intention: SKYBOLT would be cancelled. (Bundy was his
source, although he did not say so.) Zuckerman felt no surprise; Rubel had
"opened his mind" to him a week before, as well as in months pest. He had kept

'

Rubel's confidence; this was another matter. Hawthorme's word was duly passed

to Thornmeycroft. As Zuckerman recalls, it seemed to make no impact.
Hawthorne had attempted to do more than sharpen McNemara's warning. He

had sought to caution his American friends. On November T, following a conver;
sation the preceding evening, he saw Bundy and endeavored to convey the situa-
tion as he sensed it: if we dropped SKYBOLT the heart of their problem became
our substitute. Hawthorne spent no time om a defense of SKYBOLT. Unlike Gore,
he shared witk Wiesner, Brown, and Zuckemman a scientist's dubiety about its
g'uidance;system. But granting we should ',junk it, what were we prepared to do,
instead, for them? Bundy grew a bit impatient. He recalls asking "what do
you need, what do you want?" The burden of his comment was "figure it out and
tell us." If the answer were POLARIS, he suggested they could have 1t. But
the decision was theirs, not ours; it was their problem. Hawthorne recalls
doubting-"tﬁey" would see it so; hence his London phone call, two days later.
Thereafter, he felt he couiddo no more, lest he be catalogued as anti-RAF.
Bundy, meanwhile, turned to other things. The British chaps and McNamara

had this one in hand.
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The Secretary of Defense, for his part, saw another transatlantic duty
which it seemed to him he should perform. He asked Nitze's office to prepare
a cable for the American Ambessador in London, David Bruce. This went to
Bruce, "Eyes Only", on November 12, "to bring you up to date.” It indicated
SKYBOLT's state and summarized what had beén said to Gore and Thorneycroft,
including McNamara's offer to come over after November 23, "for a discussion
of slternatives open to the British." Bruce was told he would be kept advised.

On the Secretary's instruction e copy of this cable was sent to his
colleague, the Secretary of State. Rusk did not share it with the State De-

partment, nor did McNamara: the original reached Bruce through military

channels. ¢

McNamara, meanwhile, had put Nitze's staff to work on something else: =&
look into slternatives which British staffs could be expected to consider. If
he were going over there he wanted to be sure that while the British did their
homework we did ours; he meant to be at least as well-prepared as they to pass
on what was sensible for them and sound for us. After he had finished talking
to their Minister November 9, he told Nitze to get studies started on alter-
nativés and indicated those he thought most promising: first, HOUND DOG or &
variant to substitute for SKYBOLT, if British bombers could adapt to carry it;
second, a British take-over of SKYBOLT development, with some financial aid
from us; and third, & substitution of POLARIS. Whether or not he heard that
word, the thing was in his mind as worth exploring.

Nitze at once assembled a mixed group from his office and Brown's. They
discussed these alternatives and added a fourth: British participetion in a

mixed-manned, mitilateral , MREM force, a "Smith-Lee" force, of which more



22

later. Nitze then parcelled out assignments. One of his deputies, Harry Rowen,
received several of these, with special reference to political aspects, and
ended as the man who pulled the whole together. Rowen's report went to
McNamara two weeks later, on November 23. '

The Secretary was ndt at the Pentagon, November 23. He was in
Hyannis Port, meeting with the President, Bell, Bundy, Wiesner, smong others,
on his budget proposals for strategic retalia-tory forces. Kaysen, inci-
dentally, as the White House aide who regularly followed defense budgeting,
would ordinarily have been ‘there but was mot. On November 12 he had

emplaned for India with the Harriman mission, disappearing from the scene --

and from this story.

The Joint Chiefs had now been heard from. Comments had arrived November 20,
as expected. Regarding SKYBOLT, the three Service Chiefs, predictably, had
Joined to urge contimuation of the program; so they had done each year since
1960. Their Chairman, General Maxwell Taylor, had demurred. The readiness
of other missiles seemed to him sufficient reason not to tie up funds in this
one. On this issue he had filed a separate statement endorsing cancellation.

As he recalls:

"Mhis was a lot easier for me than for my Army and Navy
colleagues. I bhad only joined them in October, no
commitments. They had backed the Air Force Chief
before, and had sat with him since. There's a certain
honor about these things; I was out of it."

The Hyannis Port meeting did not dwell for long on SKYBOLT.. McNamara
would have pressed his case had all the Chiefs opposed kim; with the Chair-
man's support there was little need for argument. Since British aspects had

been covered on November 7, he did not devote much time to it, nor did the
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President. Bell, of course, had nothing to dispute. Wiesner, who had been
alerted by his English friends, attempted to expound the British problem;
Bundy, sensitive to moods and mindful also of the prior meeting, cut him
short. Presidential action on the issue was recorded as approving cancella-
tion, "subject to comsultation with the British on alternatives.”

The Secretary of Defense had a decision; now he had to consult.
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V. STATE INSTRUCTS DEFENSE

When Rowen and his associates in ISA, the Nitze office, McNamara's
" Jjunior State Department"” began studying alternatives for SKYBOLT on
November 9, tﬁey iulew that "senior State", across the river, had pronounced
upon the subject rather recently. On September 8, a few days before

Thorneyeroft reached Washington, Rusk had sent a "Dear Bobd" letter to his

colleague it Defense:

"You will recall the April 21, 1961 NSC Policy Directive, which
states that 'over the long run it would be desirable if the
British uecided to phase out of the nuclear deterrent business'.
It also states that the US should not prolong the life of the
British deterrent, except ... [for] SKYBOLT if this is warranted

for US purposes alone. .

"The present situation in Europe underscores ... this policy.
After the UK-EEC negotiations, the special US-UK relationship
may have to be closely re-examined ... it is of the utmost
importance to avoid any actions to expand the relationship.
Such actions could seriously prejudice... sound multilateral

arrangements ....

" ... The British probably feel that the V-bomber force ... is

a wasting asset .... They have shown past interest in ...

polaris submarines. They may be considering whether to try ...
to contimue a UK national force into the missile era -- probably
combined with a French national force under some type of 'joint'
arrangement .... Such an arrangement would ... vastly complicate
our efforts to hold pressures for a German national program '

in check ....

"I hope therefore that both our staffs can hold to existing
policies in discussions with Defense Minister Thorgeycroft 0000

"
This came two weeks after McNamara set his sights onm SKYBOLT; Rusk's letter-
wvriters knew nothing of that.

The signature was Rusk's; the tone was not. McNamara had not paid the
letter much attention. He could not see, September 8, why he deserved a

lecture, and anywey from private talks he knew Rusk valued the relatiomship
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with Britain, at least while nothing better was assured, and doubted "multi-
lateral arrangements. So did hg.

Nitze, one step dowvn, had been annoyed. He too disliked the lecture; he
was not enamored of its premises. Nitze held a very different view of what
was "good" end "bad" in Europeasn prospects. He was an advocate of updating
the "special relationship" to guard ageinst a British slide toward neutralism.
He also advocated upgrading relationships with others, notably the French, to
parallel the London comnnection. His image was not "mltilateral arrangements”
but bileteral srrangements radiating from our "bub" like “gpokes in a wheel."
Rusk's letter reflected gquite another purpose, which Nitze had opposed before
and would again. But now he judged that Rusk was not the source and let it
go at that.

Lower down the ladder in the Pentagon, however, distinctions between
Rusk and State were blurred by the man's signa.ture. Some of Nitze's uniformed
subordinates, especially those closest to the British situstion, felt inhibited
thereafter; SKYBOIT cancellation on the one hand, and withholding of POLARIS on

the other, seemed beyond the realm of argument for them: senior State had

spoken.
Rowen, for his part, had no such 4nhibitions; he was a civilian, out of

RAND to boot. But he knew and had some sympathy for the strong thrust of
purpose which the letter of September 8 reflected. He knew the personalities
and saw the issues and had read the record. That letter now was in the
record, signature included. In examining alternatives, as he was now to do,

Rowen thought it well to consult State.

The dey Rowen began to look into alternatives, November 9, Tyler at the
State Department sent the Secretary of State a memorandum covering the one

that he had given Kaysen a week earlier. The week had been spent on
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clearances. In the clearance-process many offices discovered part of what the
Secretary already knew. Reactions varled: the British desk still fretted for
the British. Elsewhere in the European Buresu there was indignation at the
thought that budgeteers were dominating policy "again." Feeling ran particu-
larly high among the aides to Robert Schaetzel, Tyler's deputy for Regional
Affsirs. Schaetzel's office was intent on British efforts to Join EEC. If
SKYBOLT venished, might the Tories fall? Who then would “take England into
Europe?"” Hardly lLabour. But if we helped the Tories with a substitute for
SKYBOLT, what would Burope think about their will to become Europeans?

While EEC negotiations lasted, so should SKYBOLT. Any other course would
rock the boat. :

For a time the cry beceme: "reverse the budgeteers.” Tyler bore with
this but gave it no support. A brief talk with the Secretary had informed
his sensitive ear that Rusk was not disposed to quarrel with McNamara's
budgeting. Tyler recalls asking: "Is there anything I should do?" The
Secretary responded, "No; I'm in touch with McNemara and the President.”

Schaetzel and his aides were left to contemplate the silver lining:
imminent demise of Britain's independent deterrent. The letter of
September 8, first drafted as an "action program," hed originated in their
shop. It had invoked what they assumed to be Administration policy: that
a United Burope, linked in transatlantic partnership, should rise on the
foundation of an enlarged EEC. Britain's muclear deterrent was divisive.

It already had fueled French ambitions for a national capability; there was
hope of a Gaullist defeat in Assembly elections, but even so their naticnal

deterrent might be hard to stop. As France proceeded, comparable ambitions
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someday would become the coin of pelitics in Bomn. At worst this might spark
German adventurism, Soviet preventive ection, perhaps both. At least it
would impair the growth of Europeaﬁ gsentiment and :l.nst_‘.itutions , on which we
had counted since the 1$40's to bind resurgent Germany into the West.

No one had conceived, September 8, that SKYBOLT as an issue would arise
so fast. But since it had, perhaps it could be turned to good account: re-
affirmation thet beyond the V-bombers the British would have no more
"independence” than the Germans.

This logic was appealing ocutside Schaetzel's office as well as in} it
appealed particularly to Henry Owen, Walt Rostow's deputy in the Policy FPlan-
" ning Council, whose life was now fevoted to a multilateral solution for the
nucleer problem in Burope. During 1960, Owen had joined in a summer study
with his former boss, Robert Bowie of Harvard, who had headed Folicy Planning
under Foster Dulles. Their study fathered MLF, a seaborne MREM force, dis-
tinguished .by mixed-manning and by multilaterel ownership, which Germans could
get into but not out of. Owen, helped by Bowie, had pursued this idea from
the 0ld Administration to the new, refining and adapting it and meanwvhile
clearing ground for it wherever he could: the senteﬁces on Britain in the
1961 "Green Book" -- the NSC directive State had cited on September 8 --
were one among his ground-clearing endeavors. So was the letter which
included the citation. Schaetzel's staff had drafted this but Owen had
revived it, after long delay occasioned by foot-dragging in other quarters.

The principal opponents of that letter were in Jeffrey Kitchen's Office
of Politico-Military Affairs, a general-purpose staff 1ink to Defense which
hed & tie to Rusk through Alexis Johnson, the Deputy Under Secretary. Kitchen

and his deputy, Seymour Weiss, did not oppose the policy espoused by Schaetzel's
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people -- the President himself had favored it in speeches -- and were not
opposed on principle to Owen's miclear solution. But they disliked the pace
and were mistrustful of the timing. Being farther from the British-EEC
negotiations they were less inclined than Séhaetzel to believe these "must"
come off. Being nearer to Defense Department problems-of-the-moment they
were more inclined tb.an Owen to respect a bird-in-hand, the Anglo-American
relationship. With Johnson's aid -- and a week ally in the British desk --
they had held up the Scheetzel draft until it was reduced from "act:l;on program"
to mere lecture. Even so, they still hed been reluctant on Septembex; 8.

T er——

Now, as they found that SKYBOLT was in jeopardy, the problem Weiss and

Kitchen saw was how to square the Arglo-American relationship with Buropean
policy, sacrificing neither to the other. The problem seemed to them
insoluble: compensation for the British was essentisl, but Tory politics would
put the price too high for Europe's comfort. Regarding SKYBOLT, Kitchen's
office yearned for the status quo.

For all these State Department aides ’ mid-November was a time of high
frustration. They had no leverage on the impending budget decision. More-
over as they now learned, one by one, through Rowen, they would have no place
at the negotiating table: McNamara, not Rusk, was to cc.tnmlt the British.
Rowen thus was very welcome when he raised with them his study of alternatives.
McNamera's interest in alternmatives gave them a role to play.

On November 23, the day of McNamera's meeting at Hyannis Port, Rowen met
with Owen, Schaetzel, Weiss and Bowie, among others, at the State Department.
Bowie, just back rrcm a E.xropean_j::rip, was there in his capacity as a part-
time consultant. Rowen told the whole group what he previously had told

some: the nature of his assignment and the cutcome up to now. He reviewed
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his findings on the four alternatives discussed in Nitze's meeting of
November 9. When he reached POLARIS now moved 1o fourth place, the group
exploded. Weiss ventured that this probably was where we would come out.

His colleagues, to a man, denounced him for the notion. "You'd have thought,”
Weiss recalls, "that I'd called Christ an atheist in a room full of bishops.”

To Owen and to Schaetzel both, with their converging interests, POLARIS
risked the whole of European policy for nothing but fidelity to a declining
ally whose defense posture was .si_'Lly on its face. Schaetzel, more than Owen,
had some interest in the Tories: we needed them to put EEC membership through
Parliament. But not at this expense; this risked their chance to get the
membership. From Owen's standpoint it risked more than that: puclears for
Germans.

Bowie, the "consultant" -- with the freedom of his status -- argued loud
and clear that nothing need be risked, except the nerve of the two Secretaries
and the President. The British should be told that they could lump it. Why
offer anything that went a single step beyond what they already had? If they
wanted the expense of making SKYBOLT, let them do it. If they wanted HOUND
DOG, let them have it. Nothing more. If the govermment should fall, “let it
fall." Labour, once in office, might turn kinder to the EEC and sensible about
defense, which would be an improvement. But the Tories, in all likelihood,
would not fall. They would put on a great drama for our benefii, threatening
and pleading, playing alternately on our friendship and our fears. Then, if
we stayed firm they would accommodate somehow, without losing their grip on

office., All it took was nerve.
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Hearing a1l this, Rowen said that if these were State's views they should

be put before Defense officially. He then went home and put his own views to
his Secreta:ry; By memorandum, November 23, he gave his findings on the four

alternatives. He then drew some conclusions:

i

"o, TP the British choose to contimue the SKYBOLT program, they
would be charged the appropriate incremental cosis oo

Nitze's staff, with help from Hitch's office, had been cool to McNamars's

first-thoughts of financial aid. Further:

"d. We should offer them {he alternative of using HOUND DOG.
If it is technically feasible ... [it] would be a good deal
cheaper ....

"e., We should indicate ... that they have the alternative of
the multilateral force ....

"To go beyond this to ... & national sea-borne missile force
... would signal to FATO that we had abandoned our position
of aiding only a multilaterally owned and ... manned force
.... If we are prepared to change our policy against bilateral

missile arrangements then ... SKYBOLT might be an occasion ....
But the crucial decision concerns the basic NATO policy issue --

not SKYBOLT."

' The "basie NATO policy" he cited had been reaffirmed by Washington in
May epnd June, after two bouts of argument on nuclear assistance to the French,
combined with a long wrangle over NATO needs for land-based nmuclear missiles.
The process of reaffirmation had produced NSC's NSAM-147 in April, McNemara's
NATO speech at Athens in May, his public speech at Ann Arbor in June, topped
aff by Thomas Finletter's statement of Jume 15, to NAC.' Essentially the
choices had 't;een negative: not to weaken in pursuit of integration for the

West's strategic forces, and not %o compromise a build-up for the West's
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conventional forces. Therefore, by action or inaction three decisions fol-

lowed: not to base MREM's in central Europe, not to aid the French, and not
to back Bowie's idea of MLF in any form which might confer substance on
Furopeen nuclear status -- or divert funds from conventional goeals.

If symbolism would suffice, then MLF might do the trick. An American
technical mission, the Smith-Lee team, had gone to Europe in October, offer-
ing a mixed-menned force of surface ships to carry NATO missiles. Europeans
had been told that if they wanted this we would participate, but it was up to
them. Privately, the President and McNamara, among others -- not Owen and
perhaps not Bundy -- had conceived that if the Buropeans pondered MLF they
might decide the trick was not worth doing. They then might drop the symbols
and leave everything to us, which would be better still: the simplest and
cheapest form of integration possible, assuring also non-proliferation to
the Germans.

The British bomber force, meanvwhile, already hed been integrated, not in
theory but in practice. The two strategic air forces were thoroughly co-
ordinated. No one thought that Britain would assert her "independence.”

The Anglo-American relationship ran deep.

Nuclea.x; integration and conventional build-up were twin themes of "basic
NATO policy" and had been so since the Acheson Report, the "Green Book" of
1961. In 1962 both themes were valued equally by McNamara, who saw them as
two facets of a single purpose, "controlled response" with a veriety of
"options", conventional defense among them. Rowen's thinking coincided with

his Secretery's, though in Rowen's mind conventional options probably came

first.
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"Basic NATO policy” put Rowen on the side of State, but not for State's
reasons. To Bowie and to Owen, the great stake in these "military" matters
was political: binding Germany and building "Burope." Britain's"independence"
was a major obstacle. To Rowen, on the other hand, the great stake was con-
trolled use of appropriate force in threats of war, or war itself. Britain's
"independence" was & minor complicgtlon, a problem not of substance but of
salesmanship. Their agreement waé , in this sense, accidental.

Owen and his colleagues lost no time in formulating State's official
views. The next day, November 2k, they pressed another "Dear Bob" letter on
the Secretary of State. Tyler went along with this, initialed what the others
wrote, but stayed above the struggle!

Rusk read, listemed, questioned, then returned the.letter for technical
revision of one point. Some hours later he received a revised version. Its
cover note informed him that "DOD staff have eﬁphgsized ... the importance of
State making clear directly to Secretary McNamara its views regarding US aid
to a UK nationally manned Polaris ...." Perhaps the point was not put quite
in Rowen's terms. Also, "Mac Bundy has already conveyed to DOD his own oppo-
sition to includ.ing' such aid among SKYBOLT alternatives.” Bundy's assistant,
Colomel Laurence Legere, had indeed told Rowen that it "would be out of the
question from the White House viewpoint."

The letter then was signed by Rusk and sent to McNamara. "In any
discussion with the UK," it began, "we should mention these possibilities:

"1.- British continuation of a SKYBOLT program ... through
a cut-back production program in the US ... a

Nothing was said of financial aid; it seems to have received no thought from
State Department aides intent on Europe, scornful of the Tories and antici-

pating the reactions of Defense Department "tudgeteers." Also:
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"o, Use of EOUND DOG on at least some British aireraft.
I gather there are varilous technical problems and
uncertainties ....

"3, Participation in a sea-based MREBM force under multi-
lateral manning and ownership, such as NATO is now
discussing .... '

"It seems essential that we make guite clear to the
British that there is no possibility of our helping
them set up a nationally manned and owned MREM force.

" the difficulties of bringing EEC negotiations to a
successful conclusion might be significantly enhanced.

" ... The political costs of our comtimuing to deny
MREM a2id to France would be significantly increased.
"fhe German problem would be even more serious ... M

et McNamara consult London to his heart's content. He was now "under

instruction.”
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VvI. THORNEYCROFT KEEPS QUIET

London had been on notice since November 9. When we were ready to con-
sult they would be ready to respond; so ran the reasoning in Washington. But

this was Jjust what they could not do without something more from us; so ran

the reasoning in London.

"

The British Defence Minister had kept his counsel, "no impact,” when

Zuckerman told him of Hawthorne's word that SKYBOLT cencellation was assured.
But by his own account this was no news to Thorneycroft:

"I had met Bob McNamara in September. He obviously was not

the sort who'd take the trouble to talk with Gore and then

call me unless he pretty definitely meant to do something.
I saw that at once."”

'

Thorneyeroft had also seen that he himself was caught in a cleft stick.

On the one side, if Washington " junked" SKYBOLT, so should he; the sooner
the better. He wanted no part of that brief. His predecessor, Watkinson, and
the Prime Minister had taken the position that SKYBOLT certified Anglo-
American "interdependence.” They hed endorsed the weapon, very publicly, as
something on which Engla.nd. could rely because America had chosen it, would
make it, and would use it. In private they had reasoned, as Watkinson recalls:
"Tf SAC go for it we must have it ... to maintain the integration of our forces
and our joint plamning with you." In 1960 this had also been the cheapest
course, and had posed fewest problems, buresucratic or politicel. The Govern-
ment had bet on it without reserve; and had done nothing since to hedge the
bet. But this, as much as anything, had been a bet on SAC. Now SAC looked
like a loser. Who would be the first to pey? The current Defence Minister.

Thorneycroft recalls, "there was no point in flogging a' dead horse. One

should go on to the next thing." But how? This was the other side of the

stick:
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"T needed something to step out on next. That is why
I mentioned POLARIS to McNamara. But I could not
step out ... until I was sure I could get it. I had
to have that assurance first from the Americans.”

He needed our assurance first. He needed it because he could not let
his Air Foree -- or his Navy, or the aviation industry, or Treasury, or the
Prime Minister -- tag him as favoring POLARIS on principle. This was tanta;
mount to treason, selling SKYBOLT down the river. It would make him seem
another Zuckerman. He could not advocate a change ip everybody else's
treasured status quo until he could show cause and chart another course. He
was not now in position to do either. He could not say aloud what he m:’Lght
privately infer, that SKYBOLT was 8 dead horse; no Americen had said so, not
to him or Gore. Nor could he say that if his coﬁeagues would accept POLARIS
as a substitute, he could get it for them; McNamara had listened, not
responded. There was nothing for it but to await the response. Meanwhile
the less said the better.

Within his Ministry, Thormeycroft kept his mouth shut. He shared his
problem wi'ph his Private Secretary, Artmur Hockaday; between them they made
certain discreet inquiries, "very compartmentalized." But.not even Sir
Robert Scott, the Permanent Under Secretary, was teken into confidence
"jest it embarrass him to know." Least of all, apparently, was Zuckerman
to know; he might applaud.

So Thorneyeroft recalls. Hockaday backs him up. Superficially, their
retrospect seems intermally jneonsistent. They say he saw at once vhat
Watkinson and the Prime Minister had swept under the rug two years before,

and kept there: that Tory defense posture wobbled on a weapon which was
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merginal for those who had to make it and of dubious utility to them if ever
maﬁe. We now were drawing a conclusion which had been embedded, like a time-
bomb, under British policy since 1960. Seeing this, the Tory Defence Minister
sensibly decided to "step out"; so far so good. But whythen wait for us to
volunteer the stepping-stone? Why not make sure.of our intent, by spesking
to us plainly?

The answer evidently lies in Thorneycroft's appraisal of his personal
position, his own stakes, vis-a-vis his Ministry and Whitehall as a whole.

In terms of personal and bureaucratic politics, silence with his colleagues
was the safest course for him, and lack of talk to us assured secur'ity at
home: McNamara-USAF-RAF, or any vabiant, was a potential chamnel of
communication. Shades of McNemara in September.

Weakness in the Tory policy position, as Thorneyceroft remembers he per-
ceived it, should have counselled every effort to make sure of us. Cr so logic
suggests. But weakness in his personal poeition, as he evidently felt it,
counselled silence everywhere, not least with us. He broke his silence once
in a terse conversation on the phone with one man, McNamara. He then made
an exception of some sort -- not wholly clear -- for another, his Prime
Minister, of which more later. By all acc;ounts he went no farther, nor did
he go back a second time. Michael Cary, the then Acting Cabinet Secretary

comments:

“If he really was aware, or thought he knew in November that
you meant. to cancel SKYBOLT, and that it vas politically
imperative for us to have you offer POLARIS, then it became
incumbent on him, as the responsible Minister, to find out
vhy you hadn't offered and to meke sure you would do it when
McNamara came over.
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"He should have gone to Admiralty House and said 'Prime Minister,
ve haven't heard anything; we can't afford to have McNamara
come here without offering us what we need; I can't be sure he
understood me on the phone; will you commnicate the necessity
to the President or have DeZueleta commmnicate it to Bundy?'

"I what he told you is correct, he failed to do his duty by
the PM and the Cabinet."”

Thus speaks the civil servant guarding Britain's "Cabinet system."” But
pefore one takes his judgment as conclusive, it is well to consider what the
Minister, a politician, faced in personal terms. And it is well to recall
that Thorneycroft's silence in November rather resembles McNamara's silences
pbefore November 9, to say nothing of after. Within their different contexts
each man faced internal problems, Jureaucratic and political. Each chose to
meet his problems in a fashion which precluded frankness with the other. Each
took his own convenient, hopeful view about the other as sufficient substitute
for direct contact. It must be said for our Secretary that his policy
position -- and with it his regi'.me's political position -- was far stronger
than their Minister's. He was far less dependent on the other man's perfor-
mance and had less need to know what that would be. But one may say for
Thorneycroft that his personal position was far weaker than McNamara's. He
was much more dependent on good will from his own side, and ran a greater
risk in chancing contact overseas which might reverberate at home. He even

ran some risk, as will be seen, in seeking contact through his own Prime

Minister.
Thorneycroft's problems started with his services. The RAF was utterly

devoted to SKYBOLT; that and the V-bombers were its mission and its life.
The Army, with its mission on the Rhine, was mot competitive and service

honor assured that it would not hit the other fellow's vitals. The Navy



37
had its bonds of homor too: one did not take the other's mission -- and the
money: -- unless it had been snatched away by Ministers, or by Americans.
Besides, POLARIS as a substitute conveyed more threat than promise. With a
strategic mission under water, competitive for men end funds, who would be
1eft to show the flag in the Mediterranean? What might happen to the money
for new carriers in the Indian Ocean? (Shades of our own Admirals in the
later 1940's.) Also, very possibly, to quote another Minister, "The Navy
doesn't want to shoot at cities; it wants to shoot at ships"; or anyway at
military targets. Add the Chief of Staff, Iord ILouis Mountbatten, an
Admiral and royal besides, which posed a special problem in a government
of Tories '

Another problem specially significant for Tories followed from the RAF's
close links with industry. The "military-industrial" complex in aviation,
English-style, is less exposed than ours, less "organized", more intimate.
But it exists‘ and it extends, reportedly,deep into Westminster, to say
nothing of Whitehall.

To the RAF and friends it was no secret in November that SKYBOLT was
again on the defensive at the Pentagon. But this had occurred before,
specifically the year before and the year pefore that. The details of those
episodes were somewhat cloudy, but results were plain: all had come right.
Why should 1962 be different? McNamara, after all, was acting eircumspectly;
he had put the matter to his Service Chiefs. No one doubted how they would

advise.
Everybody knew, of course, that the Americans had left themselves an out.
The British had accepted it -- indeed they had suggested it -- when terms

were set in 1960. The SKYBOLT Agreement called for an American developuent
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if "technically feasible", with a British share to follow, assuming we went
on into production. If technically infeasible there would be no complaint
from British services or Tory back-benches, nor criticism of the government
for trying. But nothing heard in london had convinced the RAF, or press, or
politicians (or technicians) that SKYBOLT's current plight was "technical";
far from it.

In 1962_ , "cost-effectiveness” was not a term of art known to the British.
The Ministry of Defense had no "Hitch counterpart" as yet. McNamara's reason-
ing was scarcely understood; his words of warning about "cost" and "time" had
fallen on deaf ears. "So what?" He had used these words in his last inter-
view with Watkinson, but he had alsd askled to know British production needs.
Watkinson, then on the lookout for essurances, took this for a promise. In
September, McNamara had employed those words again with Thorneycroft, but
had proceeded to release productim funds. If his object was to quiet Air
Force fears, he also lulled the British.

Zuckerman, to be sure, among other scientific advisers had been scathing
in his comments about SKYBOLT for years past, and warned repeatedly of com-
parable sentiments across the water. ‘But his very tone and terms -- and
repetition -- misled his non-scientific colleagues. His bete noir was the
weapon's guidance system; accordingly, his warnings seemed more technical
than fiscal. And technically he sounded hypercritical: for British purposes
SKYBOLT's "effectiveness"” required only that the Soviets should fear it might
hit somewhere in a city.

No more was wanted from the weapon than a threat of primary attacd which

would sustain the British claim to have a muc¢lear deterrent. T_hat mich the

RAF, and Douglas Corporation, and technicians on the scene kept promising

could be achieved, indeed was now in sight.
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In this difference between British purposes and ours lay a great source
of leverage which they could use -- and later did -- to mske good their
insistence on a substitute from us. For the difference was reflected in the

fact that we were now about to cancel our development on other grounds than

what they saw &s technical infeasibility. If "cost effectiveness" was not a

term employed in Whitehall during 1962, it also had not been used at Camp
David, two years earlier. Nothing on the face of the SKYBOLT Agreement gave
a precise forecast of the action we were taking. Our "moral obligation" was
bound up with that omission, and the White House session of November T shows
we knew it. So Thorneycroft inferred from McNamara's phone call. He also
inferred that since we knew it we wolld be forthcoming without leverage. But
many of the Minister's associates suspected we knew nothing of the sort. How
was he to argue otherwise? By citing our man's words? They could point to
different words from the same source.

Thorneycroft's friend "Bob" had "opemed up & bad flank" five months
earlier. McNamara then had spoken at Ann Arbor and had talked with George
Brown. In the course of his commencement speech our Secretary of Defense had
characterized other people's national deterrents as strategically irrelevant,
unstabilizing, wasteful, and more likely to invite attack than to deter it.
Many English journalists and Tories took this personally; the upshot had been
a disclaimer by the Secretary with respect to Britain. But in his private
talk to Brown, then Labour defense spokesman, McNamarﬁ hed enlarged upon the
theme, alluding quite specifically to British plans for SKYBOLT. DBrown lost
no time in using what he knew to _‘_ha:lmt the Tories. He had attacked_. them

roundly in the House. He did not give his source but it was widely known at
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Westminster. Watkinson, replying for the Govermment, had stood on the superi-
ority of Tory judgment and of Whitehell's information. It was a wobbly
platform but the best he could produce.

Now, despite Watkinson's departure, an after-taste from that debate
remained. So did memories of McNamara's earlier speech-making. Thorneycroft
might think that "Bob" meant to do right, but would anyone believe him without
some substantistion? On November 9 and after he had none to offer.

Thorneycroft had plenty of incentives to be gquiet: all these and two
more, the Treasury and the Prime Minister. POLARIS would cost Britain more
than SKYBOLT; the Chancellor's reaction was predictable. And SKYBOLT had been
chosen by Macmillan. If the choice was faﬁlty then the fault was his. He had
done the deal with Eisenhower at Camp David; he had put it through the Cabinet
and backed Watkinson in Commons; the weapon hed his nsme on it. Watl;inson's
successor was well aware of that.

Still, Thorneycroft by his account was quite prepared to "step out on"
POLARIS when the time came. Why POLARIS? From his perspective nothing else
made sense. To carry on with SKYBOLT would be costly; moreover, he and
Hockaday soon found that it would be prohibitive to transfer the development
to Britain. For them to contract, independently of Washington, with Douglas
Corporation some 6000 miles away was to run risks of strikes, or low priority
production, wholly beyond reach of EMG. No Ministry official -- to say
nothing of the RAF -- would have much use for that. As for HQUND DOG, it
combined the disadvantages of shorter range with a poor fit for V-bombers. By
the time adapting had been done improved defenses might preclude its use.
Besides, there was another disadvantage (overvhelming, I suspect): how could

a Tory Minister defend the proposition that the national security depended on

& "hound dog?"
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For Thorneycroft, POLARIS thus became the only means to meet the purpose
for which SKYBOLT had been chosen by Macmillan: a viable, politically defen-
sible, and satisfying symbol of Great Britain's standing in the Nuclear Club.

POLARIS héd, besides, distinct advantages ' For Thormeycroft it was more
+han a substitute; it was, decidedly, a better proposition. The POLARIS sys-
tem submarines and all, assured that symbolism for at least a decade longer
than the SKYBOLT and V-bombers could have done. Also, it gave the British
a far greater gift to bring across the Channel into Europe.

Thorneyeroft believed then -- still does -- in Anglo-French muclear
collaboration as the key to settlement of many things: of Burope's claims on
miclear status, of French est_ra.ngemeﬁt from NATO, apd of Britain's bid for
membership in EEC. Had it been up to him that bid would have been buttressed
by an offer in the muclear sphere. Macmillan had decided otherwise. The

Lord Privy Seal, Edward Heath, recalls:

"Our friends in France had told us that it wouldn't help our

case with DeCaulle to try to buy our way in. They may have

been wrong, but that's the assumption on which we proceeded."
Their friends in America had.told them something else: that muclear secrets
were not theirs to sell.

'.E‘nome:;r_croft dissented but could not insist. What he could do, however,
was visualize an interesting prospect once they did get in. POLARIS would make
it more interesting.

POLARIS in these terms bore no relation to the "odd American idea” then
being offered by the Smith-ILee team: a mixed-manned "mltilateral force."
British submarines with British missiles spelled an independent deterrent,
£it replacement for V-bombers. MLF was something else, an "extra."” Funds

for such a force on top of money for POLARIS might be the straw that broke
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the Navy's back. Thorneycroft and his colleagues took at face value Washington's
assertion that the Smith-Lee force was something others should consider, if
vanted. They did not want it and sew nothing to consider. Owen's German
problem did not éxist for them; they did not share his premises.

POLARIS was the horse to ride in due course, but not now: time enough
when McNamara turned up with an ofifer. Meanwhile, Thorneyeroft kept quiet and
did nothing. As a Minister who had his wey to make on tricky ground, he could
not see that there was anything to do. Contrary to Washington's assumptions
and intent, its warning had jsmobilized the man to whom addressed. But

Thorneycroft was not alone in this. That warning also had immobilized

Macmillan.
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VII. MACMILIAN WAITS

" when

If the Minister of Defence was privately prepered to "step ou
the time came, the Prime Minister was not. At Macmillan's end of Whitehall
the warning of- November 9 brought rather different motives and perspectives
into play. But on a cardinal point these came to the same thing: for the |
time being there was nothing to be done.

On November 11, Thorneycroft sent Admiralty Bouse a summary of McNamara's
telephonic message: indefinite warning of a likely possibility with consul-
tation probable before December 10. This was done by formel Mimute which
the Private Office set alongside Gore's dispatch of November 8. In keeping
with his stance of eilence Thorneycroft wrote no more to his chief; how much
more he said to him is not entirely clear. As he recalls, in private conver-
sation with the PM he told "everything": his view of Washington's intention,
also Zuckerman's; his thoughts about POLARIS; his hint to McNamara; his assump-
tion that the latter got the point and would produce. ‘The BM's Principal
Private Secretary, Timothy Bligh recalls Macmillen's understending of the
matter in about these terms, and thinks there was a full exchange between
them. Another Private Secretary, Philip DeZulueta is inclined to doubt 1t.
Only Macmillan could settle the point; I did not see him. But whether the
Minister said all this or not mekes little difference. For according to
Mscmillan's aides, the PM had sufficient reasons of his own to hold off talk
or action on the basis of that phone call.

The Prime Minister had taken office in the aftermath of Suez (Whitehall
spells it "Dulles"), with American relations at their worst, British prestige
at its lowest, Tory prospects dim. Macmillan personally had worked hard on

repairing the American relationship and also on obtaining from America the
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wherewithal to help him buttress Britain's world position as a nuclear power.
Since 1957, these two had been the cardinal points of reference in his
foreign policy: the "special relationship” and the "independent deterrent.”
For him these were at once essential to Great Britain, good for Tories, and
adornments of his place in history: a powerful conjunction of ideas.

The 1960 meeting at Camp David crowned and symbolized both points. The
Camp David communique had also menticned Holy Loch, a Scottish bease for the
Americans to service their POLARIS submarines. The formal documents had not
associated Holy loch with SKYBOLT; nor haed the Americans in public state-
ments. But in Macmillan's mind there was no doubt that he had made a desl:
the political price he paid at home’for Holy loch matched Eisenhower's
budget cost for SKYBOLT. Each alone and both together spelled "interdependence.

Now and for two years past, Macmillan had been inching his way toward a
third point of reference for his country, and his party, and his record:
British entry into "Europe" via EEC. This now was at the crux, still not
assured. Until it was assured he wanted to hold tight to what he had. When
it was assured he hoped to fit the three together, yielding none. Meanwhile
there should be, if he could help it, no sgonizing choices posed or taken.
Unliked Americans inside our State Department he did not view his relationship
with us and his deterrent as synonymous; he knew them to be separable. But
the last thing he wanted was a separation; that might force a choice between
the two. It might even force a choice between America and Europe.

McNamara's warning raised a horrid prospect: Pandora's box might open;

those choices might emerge. The issue for Macmillen in November was how to

sit on the 1i4d.
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The issue wore two faces, transatlantic and domestic. In foreign terms
the problem turned on compensation: what is to be the future of "inter-
dependence?" Washington was warning of a change, on its initiative. But
the initiator had not offered answers to the question. McNamara had not
even said to Gore and Thormeycroft that they could be assured of mutual
satisfaction. He had but said he would consult on what they might devise,
This was courteous vut not forthcoming; it was tantamount to no "offer" at
all. What then might the Americans have in their minds? Ann Arbor?
Abandoning the spirit of Camp David? Why aad Eisephower's successor said
nothing to him?

The warning was a puzzle. Thorheycroft had taken it for granted that
McNemara's definite intent could not be stated "for some reasons of his own."
The Minister assumed these were Defense Department reasons: Air Force rela-
tions probably, compounded by that odd bhenomenon , Congressional relations.
Thorneycroft had also heard the other's tone-of-voice to mean that
"eonsultation" stood for "compens:ation" and that McNamara knew from him
what iﬁ would have to be. But Admiralty House was not the Defence Ministiry;
no tone-of-voice from Washington had been heard there. Besides, Maemillaen's
stakes were larger than his Minister's, a.nd. different. The Prime Minister,
in caution, could také none of this for granted. |

Macmillan's aides recall that he hoped for the best and made allowances
for Washington: Kenmnedy, of course, had been preoccupied by Cuba. But in
Macmillan's eyes the status quo was "best”; therefore he had to think about
the worst. If Kennedy were set to cancel SKYBOIT would a threatened breach
between them be enough to make him. keep it? This, I gather, was the most
compelling feature of the transatlantic problem as observed by the ¥M, never

mind how it looked to his Minister.
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Tn domestic terms the issue at his level had two aspects: Cabinet atii-
tudes and back-bench reactions. The first of these was much the more

significant for the FM. Bligh recalls:

"For several months I think there had been growing an uncrystallized,
uncanvassed, latent Cabinet sentiment against prolonging the effort
to sustain the independent deterrent. Butler, owr 'Prince of Wales
for 37 years', had never shared the PM's sense of its electoral
importance; Maudling had little to complain of, so long as the
deterrent didn't rise in cost, but looking ahead to obsolescing
V-bombers ...." Heath's mandate ran to EEC, not muclears, but
certainly he knew they'd be around to haunt him, sooner or later.
Mcleod had been impressed by McNamara's logic -- Athens and Ann
Arbor and the like -- and probably at heart was for dismaentling
all deterrents except yours. Boyle and Joserh wanted all the money
and attention they could get for ‘welfare', Tory progress ... L

The Cabinet hed decided two years ea:'rlier for SKYBOLT. That remained the
Government's position. Nothing had occurred to force revision of the

status quo.

"But if a change had beenm put to the Cabinet in Rovember,
especially if it involved more money, all those latent
feelings might have crystallized against going on ... the
hell with it.

"The P was not unaware of that ...."
Cary, at the Cabinet Office, has the same recollection, almost word for word.
It is worth noting that of Ministérs mentioned, Butler and Maudling were
persistent foot-draggers on British entry into EEC. Batler by all accounts
was just ther stalling agricultural concessions, lack of vhich had slowed
negotiations to a crawl. The FM would not have been altogether "among friends"
had SKYBOLT gone to Cabinet in November.
In November there was nothing for the Cabinet to consider. Indefinite
warnings do not go there. Had we giver definite x:_wtice without compensation,
something would have had to go there. Fortunately we did mot. The PM thus

was spared one agonizing choice: preserving his deterrent then would have
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required rallying the Cabinet and his party ageinst us. Or had we coupled
warnings with an assured compensation which was generous but expensive, this
too would have gone there. But we did not do that either, which spared
Macmillan quite another agonizing choice. Out of curiosity I asked three
Senior Ministers, Maudiing, Mcleod, and Thorneycroft: "What if we had made
a '50-50' offer on remaining SKYBOLT costs in mid-November, instead of five
weeks later?" Each answered, "That would have been very complicated for us."
The civil servants, Bligh and Cary, were less discreet or more decided:
"mere'd have been a lov of sentiment, perhaps overvhelming, to let the
deterrent go; to carry on alone would have been unattractive and they
couldn't have blamed enything on you'."

Cabinet decisions once taken are best left alone as long as possible,
at least while they embody what the PM wants. "Iffy" propositiohs are not
items for discussion, least of all when the agenda-n;aker has vhat he wants
but cannot be sure that others (and the Ministries behind them) still support
his view. So it was with SKYBOLT on November 9 and after. Cary recalls:
"Nothing much was said except that you Americans were reviewing again and if
you thought to make a change we'd be consulted; the Cabinet would be kept
advised."

Not only is it best to leave decisions alone, but alsc it is no light

matter to seek new ones. As DeZulueta puts it:

“mme PM has it easier with Ministers than with the civil servanis.
The ranks of civil servants do not work for him. They have to be
brought along. They are loyal %o & "Government Decision' but
that takes the form of action in Cabinet, where the great machines
are represented by their Ministers."
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It may be that the Minister who "represents” effectively in Cabinet, House,
and press, or with his interest groups, gains something of a shield against
the PM's power of appointment and dismissal. If so, this helps explein why
civil servants have a hoid on Ministers. Witness Thorneycroft's concern
about his Ministry and Services. At any rate, DeZulueta draws a moral:

*mhe obverse of our show of monolithic unity behind a

Government position when we have one, 1s slowness,

pondercusness, deviousness in approaching a position,

getting it taken, getting a 'sense of the meeting'.

Nothing in our system is harder to do, especially if

prese leaks are at risk. You Americans don't seem
to understand that ... e

Discussion of an "iffy" proposition often will proceed in an informal
inner group. But now, regarding SKYEDLT, even this was too much for Macmillan.
Such a group could hardly manage without Mountbatten. But he was not a Minils-
ter (and possibly no Tory); he might talk to Services, including RAF. If so,
the talk would spread. While McNamara's warning remained "irfy" there could
be no point in that. And after all, what was there to discuss?

As for back-benchers, the PM evidently felt that if it came to choosing
a pew line his troops would choke it down, at least while he could put the
case in his own. terms and time. He was more sanguine than a Gore or than
our State Department, 3000 miies away. If Washington made good its warning
there would be embarrassment and Labour Jeers, no doubt, regardless of the
choice. But provided we kept quiet until their choice had been made, the
Goverrment could cope with eny hazing in the House. This was, of course,

a large proviso. On the plane of press relations the Americens were "security
risks." As viewed in November, from Admiralty House, the back-bench problem
wvas a Washington problem.

So was everything else.:
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On November 15, the PM cabled his Ambassador in Washington. Gore was
asked to put three matters of procedure to the President: first, that
there should be no press leaks before consultation; second, that there should
be no decisions until after consultation; third', that consultation should
take place as soon as possible, assuming we proposed to make a change .
Macmillan also asked Gore whether, at this juncture, he should have a word
with Kennedy directly on their telephone. Gore replied Rovember 21; it took
him a week, which is interesting in itself. He reported that the President
was most responsive on the matters of procedure. As for telephoning now,
Gore thought it premature: Kennedy had told him that he had pot yet gone
deep into the matier and was taking' all the papers with him to Hyannis Port,
over Thanksgiving. Before the holiday, therefore, there would be little point
in London's call; afterwards, presumebly, Washington would be heard from.

On this understanding, Macmillan did not use the private phone. With
negotiations in the offing he must not appear to press, lest he seem "weak."
The initiative was Kennedy's -_-- not his. The President had chosen to begin
at lower levels; let him choose when to move the level up.

Macmillan was not "weak" in personal terms and evidently had no fear
of seeming so. The Profumo case has taught us since what he then took for
granted. His policy position and electoral prospects vere on another foot-
ing, also British power relative to ours. Here, indeed, were wegknesses
but these were of a sort which he habitually turned into strength with us.
Using weakness as a weapon to assure our acquiescence was S.0.P. for him;

the classic technigue of the weaker ally. Camp David evidently is an

jnstance. Nassau was to be another. But this calls for a certain staging;
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time becomes important, slso scenery, elso props. For him the phone did not
appear & proper vehicle, nor was the timing right, not when the man who

should have spoken first had chosen for some reason to employ the author of

Ann Arbor as his spokesman.
If Macmillan were to save the status quo, he could not trust us to pre-

serve it for him as a private favor on his private urging frc_;m & distance of
3000 miles when he was heard, not seen. He could not trust us because our
behavior indicated either that we meant to do him mischief -- which he
doubted -- or that this was no light matter in our minds. Like Thorneycroft,
the PM evidently did not think a McNamara would take trouble without reason.
Macmillan got the point of McNamara's call which is why he forebore to tele-
phone once Gore, who knew the President far petter than he did, advised delay.
With that advice to buttress McNamara's warning, an uninvited phone call
seemed no way to meke the President keep SKYBOLT. But the M meant to make
him keep it if he could.

In Washington the question still arises, "Why didn't he call us?" In
london, not long ago, Macmillan talked to Henry Brandon more bluntly than
his staff to me, putting the same question with some bite -- and in reverse.

While Kennedy proceeded to Hyannis Fort, Macmillan took the news of
the November by-elections on which Tories had been banking to show good
results from his "purge" in July, his "new face" for the Party. There were
six of these November 22. The results were far from happy. All six elec-
tions disappointed Party hopes and cast new doubts on Tory standing with

"ewing" voters. There scon was back-bench grumbling that the "new face"

was not new enough.

Mecmillan now had a new weapon in his hands to use with us. Unfortunately,
he would soon see still another ally, who did not view Tory weakmess &s a

strength.
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In the post-election atmosphere Macmillan waited for some word from
Washington. None came. Messages went back and forth on other subjects, but
not SKYBOLT. On November 27, Admiralty House and the White House announced
4 meeting of the President and the Prime Minister in Nassau three weeks
hence, December 18. The meeting hed been pending for some time as one among
their semi-annual “"get togethers.” On these Macmillan doted as a sign of
their relationship. Now the date was set for three rléys after an engagement
to see his prospective partner in the EEC, DeGaulle. The meeting with the
French was not expected to be easy; Macmillan had looked forward to relaxing
with Americans. But by November 27, with nothing heard from Washington, he
took it that SKYBOLT would be tl-_ze mdin _bus_iness of Nassau. His aide DeZulueta
had not made this point to Bundy when they settled the arrangements. From his
side what could he ssay?

Not until December 3 did London hear that Washington was ready to con-
sult; McNamara would see Thorneycroft December 11. On December 12 both men
were gcheduled to arrivé in Paris for a 'NA'.'I.'_O ;ninisterial meeting. Macmli_llan
was to meet DeGaulle December 15. At Admiralty House no one supposed that
McNamara's one-day stand, in this progression, could conclude the SKYBOLT
case. Nassau necessarily remained the place for that. But there was hope

of clarification; waiting was about to end. McNamara's visit would show

Washington's intentioms.
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VIII. DECEMBER IRTERLUDE

Our Secretary of Defense had not deliberately delayed his trip to London.
At Hyannis Port, November 23, when he got his decision he had thought to go
the mext week, vell before December 10 the cutside date that he had given
Thorneycroft. This evidently was the thought in everybody's mind at the
decision-making meeting.

The President,so far as I can find, said nothing at Hyannis Port about
his words with Gore on "matters of procedure.” Evidently he saw nothing to
be said. Those procedures were implicit when he first had talked with Rusk
and McNamara on November 7; thus it had been easy to accede to Gore's
request. Bverything done since seembd in accord with that request. Consule
tation in a week woulld be more of the same.

But the next week was a busy one for McNamara. He was readying other
chapters of his budget vhich had piled up as a consequence of Cuba; he was
sbout to deal with Indian requests for aid. Also he had scheduled on
November 30 an interagency "defense policy conference”, a preview of
December's NATO meeting. For a variety of reasons, the Smith-lee team among
them, he did not want to miss that conference.

So McNamara did not go before November 30; afterwards the NATO meeting
Joomed so close that it appeared "a waste" to lose a day from work and make
two trips instead of one. Accordingly, he rolled the two together and
decided to see Thormeycroft en route %o Paris: hence his request, December 3,
that they should meet in London on December 1l.

In the process two things slipped from sight: Macmillen had sought mo
publicity before decision and no Decisions before consultation. he President

had promised both, though perhaps no one knew that, apd both were consistent
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with the Secretary's earlier assurances to Thormeycroft. The action at
Hyamis Port did not seem incomsistent (to Americans) since 1t hed been
declared "subject to c;nsulta.tion", and since there had been no publicity.
But the workings of the budget process would transform thet action into
formal -- well nigh irreversible -- Decision at the moment when the Serviceé
were notified.

Such was the logic of McNamara's "probesble leak date” December 10,
estimated early in November. His estimate was off by three days. On
December 4 Hitch notified the Services that SKYBOLT was eliminated from the
budget; current programs would be cancelled at the end of the month; in the

interim there should be no disclosures. On December T suthoritative news

stories, implying cancellation, appeared in the New York Times and the

Washington Post.

McNamara's trip was still four days away.

Had McNemare known what Thorneycroft was thinking, or Macmillan, or how
their thoughts diverged, or had he even known how little they were doing, no
doubt he would have used his own time rather differently in the days after
November 23. But .he knew none of this. The British evidently had absorbed
his warning calmly, more calmly than Gore. Nothing to the contrary was
heerd from their Ambassador, or from our own man Bruce. Indeed, nothing was
heard at all about London's reaction. Silence probably amounted to assent;
no news probably was good news. So it seemed to McRamara, hard at work.

Why did@ he learn nothing from the British Ambassador? Gore wes no
nearer London than he; for all Gore knew there had been no reaction, except-
ing the Prime Minister's concern .about "srocedure 8" which &t most implied a

waiting game. What Thorneycroft could not tell his own Under Secretary he
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did not confide to cables aimed at Gore. What Macmillan would not say to
Cabinet Ministers he did not put in Foreign Office messages. From where Gore
sat it looked as though his Govermment "had stuck its head in the sand ."
Lacking information or instructions he took it as his task to report all he
could and to p:’t‘epa.re the ground as best he could for a solution, when and as
his ostriches should want it.

Gore worked ir the dark; to complicate his lack of word from home, he
evidently did not grasp the processes end politics of Hitch's defense budget-
ing. Early in December Gore and Gilpatric discussed the proposition that we
keep SKYBOLT afloat from month to month, while EEC negotiations clarified and
by-election fall-out subsided. Gilpatrie was encouraging, so it seemed to
Gore, but the idea got short shrift in the Pentagon. From where Hitch sat,
contimiation this year and elimination next was nonsense &s & matter of
Congressional presentation and would arm proponents of the program. To post-
pone elimination would be worse, if poshible ; to start the session Justifying
something when one knew that later one would seek the opposite, broke every
canon of effective budgeting and risked the whole stake in the President's
decision: $2.5 billien.

To Gore this still seems a "parochial” concern; in programmatic terms,
however, it had overtones of 1ife-and-death, much like Macmillan's concern
with his Cabinet. Both were "parochial" in the same sense and both became
decisive. Gore is not the sole Ambassador, nor his the only Foreign Service

to find such behavior puzzling when practiced by foreigners.
As for Bruce in London, ke might have learped what Gore could mot: he

was on easy terms with Thorneycroft and the PM; he might have asked and they
might then have hinted what they thought. But Bruce had been immobilized in

the seme way as they: by the terms of his message from McRamsra.
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The cable Bruce received November 12 was the first in his memory which
had reached him "Eyes Only" from another Secretary than Rusk through channels
other than the State Department's. Did this mean McRamara wented State kept
4n the dark? Was security involved? or feuding? Was Rusk fully informed?

Tf so why hed there been no word from him? McNamara's cable did not ask Bruce
to do anything; it coupled non-instruction with the information that direct
talks had begun and would proceed at ministerial level. What might Bruce be
doing if he got into mt act? In prudence he steyed out of it.

One of Bruce's aides Raymond Courtney, His "Politico-Military" Officer,
was sufficiently concerned to draft a cable which Bruce signed after some
thought and sent through "their" Dephrtment, State, to McRamara on November 21:

n .. If a decision to discontimue ... the SKYBOLT program is
taken ... or seems likely, I believe the Government here should
ve afforded meximum amount of time possible to make its own

consequent decisions and to prepare its plans and their presen-
tation .... [SKYBOLT] abandonment now could have the most

fundamental consequences ...." i
But this told State and Pentagon -- and White House -- nothing they had not
heard three weeks earlier from Courtney's fellow-FSO's, the BNA desk officers
in Washington.

Courtrey might as well have been in Washingtor for all he knew of Iondon's
inner thoughts. He could not deal with Minjsters. Unless he had been intimate
with Thorneycroft's Private Secretary, he could have learned nothing from
inside the Defence Ministry. Unless he had been very close to memvers of the
PM's staff he could not have learned anything elsewhere. And Courtney -- like
most of his ecolleagues in our Embassy -- was not the sort of person to whom

senior civil servants in sensitiw;e positions volunteer the private thoughts of

principels. The inner politics of the bureaucracy in Britain is not studied
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by our Mission there. Nor are its members men with whom their British counter-
parts (outside the Foreign Office) feel professional affinity, trade intimate
"shop talk."” Bruce would not, Courtney could not penetrate the minds of a
Macmillen or a Thornmeyeroft. So there was nothing further that our Embaessy
could offer. What was offered was no use to Washington.

Had Washington requested more -- through State Department channels or
by telephone perhaps -- the Embassy's combined resources, mobilized and
focussed, probably sufficed for an informetive result. Volunteering was
another matter.

The lack of word from London may not have bothered McNamara but it did
disturb some of his aides. RBrown recalls that as November drew to a close,
"it made me mervous that we badn't heard anything about what they were
planning, how their considerations were going -- when I had time to think of
it, that is, which wasn't often.” Rowen recalls that on November 28, can-
cerned about the time-table, he suggested to the Secretary that if his own
trip were delayed, Nitze and Rubel go &s an advance party. McNamara's reply:
n{11] take care of it." Rowen tock the hint and turmed to other things.

This interchange occurred as Rowen handed in a memorandum supplementing
his report of November 23. Where SKYBOLT was concerned that finished his
assignment. The Secretary's comment told him that he did not have a new
one. No one else did either: in finishing his own, Rowen had finished
Nitze's. The Secretary handed out no more. Concerned or not, his aides
left it at that. SKYBOLT was his pigeon at his option. They were busy men.

And their concern did not run very deep. In Rowen's terms:
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"I knew Polaris was possible but I assumed there probably was

some way to make the British accept one of the three alter-
natives. I assumed McNamara could and would shove one of

them down their throats -- probably Hound Dog. Since that

was good enough for SAC it ought to do for them. Anyvay,

it wasn't my responsibility. I did ask Nitze now and then

when the Secretary was going and why the delay. Paul

professed ignorance and, clearly, he didn't have the
responsibility either. Meanvhile, we had lots to do."

If Pentagon concern was limited, White House concern was almost non-
existent. On November 27, when Nassau was announced, SKYBOLT was not even
envisaged as a subject; McNamara would have got it settled by then. The man
who had just got the bombers out of Cuba certainly could do that. Neither
he nor Rusk was slated for the trip to the Bahamas; McNamara hed a holiday
in mind and Rusk would dine the Dipl'omatic Corps. Iiassau was to be a pro
forma affair; frienmdly talk and symbolism for the FM's pleasure, no ’
negotiations, So Bundy recalls. |

Bundy also recalls a certain nervousness, akin to Brown's,about the
timing not the substance of McNamara's consultation. He called the S;cretary
more than once to urge against delay. The answer he received was mmich like
Rowen's.

At State, meanwhile, there still were a few active vorriers. Weiss and
Kitchen, doubtful about the "instruction” of November 24 and fearful London
would have none of it, kept searching for a way back toward the status quo.
Like Gore they sought it in a budgetary accommodation. On November 30 they
wrote Rusk urging him to get SKYBOLT continued through a subsidy for British
development, thus echoing'a.n early McNemara thought. The thought sat well
with Rusk, whose mind was moving in the same direction. But in the sequence

of events their advice was a bit belated. Tt would have served better a

week before. ’ e
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Elsevhere in the State Department, other issues crowded SKYBOLT almost

out of mind. As Tyler puts it:

"One absolute priority displaced another abeolute priority.

The NATO meeting was the thing we had to work on in the

last week of November and the start of December."
He and Schaetzel and their aildes proceeded to do that. Owen went back to
planning: provided McNamara followed his instructions everything would be
gll right.

At the "defense policy conference", November 30, a free-associating
"seminar" vhich mingled all the ranks, these people gathered with their
principals, the President excepted. SKYBOLT was not much discusged. Re-
portedly, Rusk wished aloud that we '‘hed renamed HOUND DOG "Skybolt B," and
McNamara rejoined, "Dean, you'd have been great in the automobile business."
McNamara later voiced the thought that sales of US missiles without warheads
might be one alternative. Rusk, the mimites note, "did not like" it.

They and their assoclates then turned to telk of NATO force requirements.
The Secretary of Defense pursued a favorite theme: the need for larger Euro-
pean contributions of conventional forces. At one point he suggested that if
Furopeans were insistent about muclear status-symbols we underwrite all costs
of MIF and free their funds for serious husiness, conventional forces. This
led to running, intermittent argument about the nature of our policy towvard
MIF. McNamara lectured Schaetzel on the non-committal cast of our support
for the idea and for the Smith-lee team, implying that somebody was over-
enthusiastic. The Secretary spoke with confidence; he thought he knew both
Rusk's mind and the President's. But Schaetzel seemed impervious, Owen_looked.

undsunted, Rusk and Bundy were not to be drawn. Discussion wandered on; Ro

one returned to SKYBOLI.
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Such inattention did not last for long. That conference coincided with
a wave of transatlantic press reports which shortly shoved the SKYBOLT issue
back into ﬁe minds of men at White House, Pentagon and State.
The presé‘ began to get into the act November 28. That day Lord Beaver-

brook's Daily Express treated London to a front page piece wvhich declared

SKYBOLT in danger from a State Department "lobby" trying to strike down the
British independent deterrent. (My "spies" report the source of this was
Brown, his tongue in cheek, intent on making trouble for the Tories.) This
same day the Air Minister anncunced in Cmmlnons that "it remains our policy
to push forwar;l the development of SKYBOLT." The next day, November 29,
Washington announced the f£ifth succéssive fallure of & flight-test. Om

November 30, the Daily Telegraph conveyed reports from Washington that work

would go forward despite failures: " ... no present intention of scrapping
SKYBOLT." On December 2, however, Brandon wrote from 1.;here that anti-.SRIBOLT
men wére "now in the ascendancy.” ‘ﬁzen, December T, came the mthoritétive
hints of SKYBOLT's demise. These brought a rash of reactions in the British
press, the stronger for a sad coincidence.: on December 5 Dean Acheson had
lectured at West Point.

The Prime Minister himself spoke in the House to answer Acheson's alleged
denigration of Great Britain. It was ac emotional performance. Beneath the

scorn for Acheson there ley a mounting worry at the lack of official word

from Washington on SKYBOLT. )
On December 10, McNamara and Rusk met the President and Bundy at the

White House, once again, for fimal talks before the Secretaries went their ways

to NATO: Rusk direct to Paris, McNemara vie London. Just before the President

came in, Rusk queried his colleague on the possibilities of subsidizing
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British efforts to contimue the development of SKYBOLT. Rusk had been thinking
of his three approved alternatives; the more he thought about them the more he
saw a need to "sweeten the pill." McNamara told him that by various devices
we certainly could shoulder some remaining costs, if Britain chose to carry on
development. (Financiel aid had been in his own mind as early as November 9;
their staffs had let it drop while freming those alternatives.) He told Rusk

he would pursue the matter the next day, if need be, when he saw Thorneycroft.

The President then Joined them.
Bundy's notes record that with respect to Britainand the three approved

alternatives:

"My . McNamara did not believe that the British would be pleased by
any one of [the] alternatives .... What he thought we might con-
sider, at some stage in the negotiations, was a proposal to give
the British access to a more up-to-date weapons system on the
condition that the venture become miltilateral if and when a
multilateral force should be developed. Such a course might
conceivably be taken, for example, with Polaris.”

As time would show, "multilateral" in this context was not identical with

MLF to McNamara or his auditors. Further:

"The Secretary of State,while not disagreeing ... indicated his
own deep concern with the difficulties that would be posed for
the British by a cancellation of Skybolt. He appeared to
incline toward a major effort to assist them in meeting the
remaining development costs, 80 ... they would at least have a
fair shot at obtaining what they'd been counting on ....

"The President indicated his general approval of Secretary McNemara's
proposal, and said he was not eager to join in a large share of

further development costs for a weapoh to be supplied only to the
British ...."

This conversation bears comparison with Rusk's "instruction”, Rowen's
conclusion, legere's statement on mthe White House viewpoint" three weeks

earlier. Rusk had been supportive of his aides in their presence. McNamara
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had been silent with his owm,"I'll take care of it." Legere spoke for whom?
Apparently for part of Bundy's undecided mind. Nothing in the record repre-
sented what the Secretaries and the President now said to one another.

Even this conversation scarcely represents, in full, what McNamara
evidently thought. POLARIS had been in his mind from the begloning; SKYBOLT,
once discarded, looked more dubious each week, not only for himself but for
an ally. When he received Rowen's report and Rusk's instructions’he had faced
a choice. As he recalls, he made it deliverately (and has regretted it since):

"T never thought State's three alternatives contained a viable

solution. I thought I ought to give them a run for their
money in case I was wrong. But I never did think the British
were likely to buy any of them and I never thought for a
momwent that if the British didn't buy them, we could leave it
at that. I thought we'd probably end by glving them Polaris.
I'd said that on November 7 and Mac had agreed. The President

and Dean hadn't disagreed.
"Byt my own people were dubious and Rusk's people were dead

against it. I thought hé wanted me to give them a crack at
what they wanted. I decided I might Just as well do that ....

1

Rather than precipitate a row with his associates, he meant to let the British

press POLARIS on him. And so he flew to london to meet Thorneycroft, who had

precisely the same notion in reverse.
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IX. McNAMARA MEETS THORNEYCROFT

On the morning of December 11, as he arrived in london, our Secretary of

Defense made a short statement to the British press:
"My, Thorneycroft and I will have a full discussion .... One of
the things we are going to talk about ... is the Skybolt program
.... In Washington ... we are teking a very hard look at all of
our programs. This includes Skybolt ... it is a very expensive

program and technically extremely complex. It is no secret that
all five flight tests attempted so far have failed and program
13

costs have climbed sharply ....'

when this statement hit the streets, early that afternoon, there was
considerable shock in Whitehall and at Westminster. The American vas denigra-
ting SKYBOLT before consultation even had bégtm. From the safety of Schweppes,
Watkinson for ome was outraged; he recalls, "If I'd still been in office I'd
have refused to see him." Thorneycroft, however, remained calm. He was at
the airport and he heard the statement made. As he recalls, he thought it a
bit "prema'l:,ure" but possibly quite useful since that afternoon he was to get
an offer o:é POLARIS. McNamara's attitude was no surprise to Thorneycroft; he
felt no shock. His turn was soon to come.

Thorneycroft went off to Cabinet on the understanding that they would
meet after lunch. McNamara lunched with the assistants he had brought along,
Nitze and Rubel. When they left to meet the Minister, McNamara comments, as

Rubel recalls:

"Ttye got a card up my sleeve but I'm going to let them play it:
we give them Polaris on the understanding they assign their
subs to NATO. I think that's where we're going to come out.
I'11 start with my three optioms, then I think they'll ask for

this."
Shortly after, they assembled in Thorneycroft's office with the Minister

and several senior Ministry officials. McNamara opened by distrivuting copies

of an Aide Memoire vhich gave the grounds for SKYBOLT cancellation and
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presented the three State Department alternatives. He then read the whole
document aloud. Thorneycroft remembers "ruffling through the pages" looking
for the word "POLARIS." He found it only in conjunction with the adjectives
"nixed-manned” and "multilateral”, Smith-Lee no less, in Thorneycroft's
phrase "a non-starter ... no relevance to this matter at all ... nothing to
do with a substitute for SKYBOLT as a means of maintaining cur independent
deterrent.”

The discovery left him "profoundly shocked."

Ever since November 9 Thorneyeroft had calculated that POLARIS must be
brought to him; he could not go for it. He could not be seen by Englishmen
"to plead on my knees with Americans."” Nor had he wanted

" ,.. to be seen by my people in the Services, in the House, or in

the press, to be locked in a struggle with Bob McNamara for SKYBOLT

... a struggle where I would fail to beat him.”

Even if the outcome were POLARIS it would then be tagged in public as a
“sop", a "second-best”, a "defeat."” (So it later was.) Now to his surprise
he faced the absolute necessity of choosing one of these appearances. The
Secretary's morning press statement deprived him of all chance to duck the
choice. Did he want to look a pleader or a loser?

Tt took Thorneycroft no time at all to make that choice: better valiant
than craven. While the other still was reading he decided on his course. In
Hockaday's phrase, "he had to move back to Square Ope."” - The moment McNamara
finished reading, Thorneycroft proceeded to do that. He spoke emphatically
tut slowly; Rubgl, fascinated, took verbatim notes:

"T won't comment on the. technicel judgments .... I am

confident that your experts have advised you as you

have indicated in your paper. I am equally confident
that other experts could be found to argue the other side."



"T will discuss the political implicatjons. This missile is
at the heart of British defence policy. It is the key to
the continuing of the V-bomber force. It is the only example
of complementarity between the U.S. and Great Britain.

"Moreover, the SKYBOLT project arose as part of the context
and complex of other decisions. We made the U.K. a target by
agreeing to base POLARIS at Holy loch. That agreement and the
SKYBOLT agreement were both taken in the same context.

"p deeision to cancel the SKYBOLT would not only have grievous
political consequences to me and to my party. It would not
only be seized by the opposition for that purpose ....

"We, on our side, of course, always said you would never let
us down. We had to say that because we put our reliance in
you absolutely. Now they will be able to say that they were
Tight and we were wrong ..-.

"Moreover, the position is made harder by recent statements by
American spokesmen concerning the independent British deterrent.
A mumber of U.S. spokesmen have made themselves heard on this
subject recently. Even your speech at Ann Arbor, Bob .... the
British press, and many others will say the SKYBOLT decislon is
part of that policy. They will say this decision is really
taken to force Britain out of having an independent nuclear

. deterrent. The recent speech by Mr. Acheson will be seized
upon to place this action in that context ....

"And so, Bob, I would like to ask you a question. If you are
going to cancel the project, are you going to say that it won't
work, or are you going to say that it will cost too much?"
McNamara snswered candidly, "We won't say that it is impossible, but we
will say that technical problems dominate the decision ... " Thorneycroft
rejoined:

"Of course, but most missiles slip their schedules. Most of
these projects cost more .... Many of them are less accurate
than they might be desired to be. But to cancel this project
tears the heart out of our relations....”

The Secretary then attempted to proceed to practicalities: "Would you
contimue the SKYBOLT project alone if we did cancel it?" The Minister
snapped back, "That is the only interesting alternative.” Hearing this,

McNamara told him, "We'll certainly make it as easy as we can for you to take
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that alternative ...." There followed some discussion of ways and means.

Then Thorneycroft returned them to another level:

"0f course, Bob, this matter .... really relates to the
political factors. These dominate. It really concerns
the interpretation that is going to be placed upon this
action. The opposition is bound to say that your real
reason for cancelling the SKYBOLT is to end this rela-
tionship and to change the posture of Britain ....
What do you say to that?”

"Bob" did as best he could: "Well, I'd say that we have spent and we are
spending a lot of money to keep you in the positicn of having an independent
miclear deterrent ...." This naturally was not enough for Thorneycroft.

He put the question in a harder form:

"Assuming that you were to cancel SKYBOLT, would you
be prepared to state publicly that the United States
is willing to do everything possible to assist Britain
to keep its independent miclear deterrent?”

McNamara answered: "Yes, I would. Of course, we wuld have to consider
Germany, France and, for that matter, you and your commitments to the Common
Market." But Thorneyeroft was having none of that: "If you Iwculd support us
publicly, we're not worried about the Common Market." McNamara tried another
tack, "We could do that in the framework of our willingness to let you con-
time the project." Thornmeycroft shot back, "I'm talking of policy." To
vhich McNamara responded: "But the best evidence of policy is specifics,
such as our willingness to support SKYBOLT until you take it over.” (They
were talking different languages; "policy” to Thorneycroft meant symbols,
not "specifics.”)

The Minister then got down to cases, point by point:

"Yes, but how cen ve re-.alistically expect to do that?....
We have cancelled other projects, we have made ourselves

absolutely dependent upon you .... Besides, we can't
really afford to take the project over in amy case ....
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"None of these alternatives that are set forth in the paper are
viable. The ... cost [for SKYBOLT) would be excessive....

"We'd never consider the HOUND DOG ....

"T am the greatest multilateralist of all .... But after
I have my forces, not before. It is easy for you to
favor multilateral arrangements ...."

And finally,

"I notice you've dropped POLARIS from your paper. We talked
about POLARIS on the telephone, why have you dropped it?"

McNemara evidently pricked up his eax;s. After saying he did not recall
such talk, he put a question: " .... Would you buy POLARIS systems if we

could make them available?" Some discussion followed and then Thorneycroft
. L}
inquired, "Why is furnishing POLARIS a problem to you?" Again McNamara did

the best he could: "Well, there are legal problems, especially with respect

to the muclear parts of thée submerine such as the reactor cess

Zuckerman then tried to change the subject:

* .. if most experts feel that SKYBOLT is mo good 1t
really wouldn't meke very much sense for the U.K. to
support it. If the U.S. decides that that's why
SKYBOLT should be dropped, then the U.K. shouldn't
pick it up."

McNamera quickly -- perhaps gratefully -- tossed that ball back:

"The public should not be misled by our statements. We
have kept it up only because of the British interest
in it. You, Solly, have always known this. Your other
experts have always kmown it too."

But Thorneycroft was not to be diverted:

"No, the question goes beyond SKYBOLT or the problems of
SKYBOLT. The deéisions were all teken in context. We
had SKYBOLT and you had the POLARIS berthing at Holy
Ioch. You must go out-of the decision on SKYBOLT, if
you do, with another decision that is taken at the same.

time."

"mat other decision must be a positive one -- namely the
decision to publicly specify thet the U.S. supports the
British independent deterremt.”
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Nitze recalls that at about this point "I asked Thormeycroft if they had
considered the effect upon their relations to the Common Market of the UK
acquiring an independent POLARIS force. Thorneycroft said that first of all

this was a matter for them to worry about and not for us to concera ourselves

with, and secondly that

"DeGaulle would have no legitimate grounds for complaint. After
all, DeGaulle was the wan arguing most loudly for a national
deterrent."

Discussion ther turned for a while to submarine programs on which the
Minister did not seem well-informed. "At that point,” Rubel notes,
"Mz . McNamara proposed the alternative that he had indicated before the
meeting he hoped the British would &dvance on their own:

"Would you consider saying that after you got your own POLARIS
submarine force you would make it part of a miltilateral force?"

Thorneyeroft responded strongly:

"Not as a condition upon us. After the announcement and the
decision, then the UK can go into multilateral arrangements
just as the US can. But the UK must enter any such arrange-
ment as an independent power. No matter what the savings in
cost might be, we have no option except to go that way."

Nitze then asked about the possibility of an Anglo-American collaborative

operational arrangement. He mentioned the manner in which both strategic air

forces coordinated plans. Thorneycroft replied:

"Yes, we could make collaborative arrangements of that kind.

Are these forces operable on their own? That is the test.

We have mo objection to integrated operationms, but there

mst be the possibility of separate even if degreded operations.”

The meeting recessed on that note.

If Thorneycroft was shocked.by McNamara's Aide Memoire, the latter was
"appalled" by Thormeycroft's response. The accusatory lecturing left McNamara

ummoved; as Nitze recalls; "he took it like a tank being spattered with eggs.”
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But the Minister's lack of precision on costs, his unconcern for, even ignor-
ance of problems in adapting his own submarine progrem, these things disturbed
the Secretary deeply. Rubel's notes record that when discussion turned to
British submerine designs and time-schedules in case these should become

POLARIS carriers:

"It was not clear to what extent the UK had given thils or any
related matter much consideration .... Solly revealed that
they had a single sheet of paper on which they had written
dowvn their thoughts. Insofar as I was able to discover this
was the only document in his possession or anybody else's,
concerning this matter.”

In McNamara's recollection of the meeting:
"They hadn't done their ho:nework.
"They hadn't done a thing. They had made no plans .... They
obviously hadn't given any thought to what would be satis-
factory for them and how to get it and how to present it
publicly .... I'd given them a perfectly good warning and
it was obviocus they'd made no use of it ...."
McNemara had not done his "homework"” elther; when it came to POLARIS he
brought nothing to read. But Thorneycroft's state seemed quite unlike his
own, at least to him.
This impression shocked the Secretary of Defense but ke was soon to have
a stronger shock. He dined with the. Minister apd carried on into the even;
ing. Then vhen they adjourned he saw the evening papers. He was featured
in them all as a man who had assaulted Britisﬁ interests but had been stood
off by Thorneycroft in a "tempestuoud' meeting. Britain's Defence Minister
"had made it plain to Mr. McNamara that cencellation of the SKYBOLT project
would lead to complete reappraisal of British policy and defence commitments."
According to "Defence Ministry spokesmen”, Britain had "counted on the SKYBOLT
as its chief deterrent weapon”, had counted, indeed, on the United States and

McNamara had been "left under mo illusions as to the consequences of ...

cancellation."
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The Secretary took it that these stories had been written in the Ministry.
There probably was no need for that. Hockaday recalls:
"aAfter McNamara's statement in the morning all the press needed
to know was that he hadn't offered satisfactory alternatives.
A1l it took to know that was the lack of better word. We had
no good news to pass along. There was no need to write their
stories ... and no way to stop them either.”
Maybe so, but McNamara read them as deliberate, slanted leaks. What was
Thorneycroft trying to do? Maybe he really meant to turn anti-American. The
thought trailed the Americans to Paris the next morning.
Thorneycroft went off to Paris on another plane pursued by other thoughts:
Why hadn't McNamara said "0.K.?" Maybe "they" really meant to strike down his
deterrent. If so, what would become of it, and him?

For both these men the fliéht was short, but not relaxing.
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X. FLAP IN TEE RANKS

On Wednesday, December 12, a large part of official Washington assembled

in Paris: Rusk and McNamara, Tyler and Nitze, Rostow, Schaetzel and Rowen,

among others. A portion of official london was there too, notably Thorneyeroft

and the Foreign Secretary, Lord Home. Macmillan stayed behind, but not for
long. On Sat.urdag.r morning he was to meet DeGaulle at the Chateau of
Rambouillet. Kgnnedy remained on his sid;e of the Atlanti;:. Maemillan was to
meet him the next 'Tuesday.

‘For six days echoes of the McNamara-Thorneycroft exchange reverberated in
Paris, london, _Washington and Rambouillet. On the seventh day came Nassau.

The news that JMcNamara brought from london split the Americans in Paris.
He and Rusk agreed at once that they wanted no crisis in Anglo-American
relations. The formula would have to be about what he had thought: POLARIS
with some sort of NATO 1link, if possible, to symbolize "mltilateral" and to
signify "integration." This squared with Nitze's thinking on bilateral rela-
tionships, "spokes in a wheel", and his concern lest Britain slide toward
neutralism. Rowen, when he heard the news, thought no more than "Oh hell, so
they've got it." But Rostow, Schaetzel a.nd assorted others, whose eyes were
fixed on EEC or MLF or both, dissented vigorously, almost frantically against
that formula.

Rusk bore the brunt of their reaction; the dissenters were his people.
Our Ambessador, Charles Bohlen, gave a dinner vhere the host and virtually
all the guests united to assesult the Secretary of State for putting British
wants ahead of Buropean purposes. In everybody's view but his he valued our
relationship with Britain much too hi@:. By all accounts their vigor finally

ruffled his composure: "What do you want of me and the President?”
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he reportedly demanded, "we have to have somebody to talk to in the world ...

we can't talk to DeGaulle ... or Adenauer; do you want take Macmillan away

n

and leave us nobody? ....

The next day, in a staff meeting, Rusk revealed more of his views. As
one distressed subordinate then told a friend in Washingtm by "Dictabelt":

" ... The Secretary said he wasn't against the special relation-
ship until he could see something better to take its place ....
The Secretary said categorically he was not concerned ahout the
possibility of a German [nuclear] program, stating that the
Germans were committed under the Brussels Agreements and that
any change on the Germans' part would constitute a radical
change in their relations with us and he didn't think they

would take it .... "

The dictation contimued:

"Obviously ... if the US is not concerned about the possibility
of a German program or of diffusion in general, we are on &
wrong wicket....

" ... However, I don't make too much of this since, as you
know, Foreign Ministers are assailed with a multitude of
problems during NATO meetings and the purpose of our session
with the Secretary was merely to report the facts to him, not
to try to get any decision ...." .

Rusk might teke a stand regardless of his aides, and so might McNamara
with a cheer from Nitze, but between them they could not commit thelr govern-
ment to anything until they got to Washington and saw the President. Mean-
vhile, Home and Thorneycroft were close at hand and asking; there was nothing
the Americans could ansver.

This left the Englishmen less comfortable than ever, and Thorneycroft
for his part more inclined than ever to suspect & plot. He may have talked
then to Pierre Messmer, his French colleague, about & scheme for miclear
collaboration (they certainly talked later). However that may be, he did
unquestionably pace the floor with Home. A British Embassy official vividly
recalls the two of them, "ma.fching up and down the room saying to one another,

'W111 they give it to us?'- and 'My God, if they don't the Government might

fall'."
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Rack home their Cabinet colleagues were "in shock", confronting this new
trouble suddenly, on top of others vhich already had unsettled many Tories:
scandals in security (the Vassall case), November's by-elections, Katanga --
and Rhodesia -- and two months of Cabinet agonizing over agricultural
concessions to the EEC. The M, for his own part, contemplated Rambouillet
and Nassau, Just shead.

In Washington, meanwhile, rump groups at State and Pentagon worked under
Bundy's urging on the problem now exposed by McNamara's "consultation.” A
fairly good account of his exchange with Thormeycroft reached Washington from
Courtney on December 12. So did press reports. These demonstrated that
November's three alternatives would not suffice to meet "the British problem.”
Courtney's cable did not manage to convey with Thorneycroft's full force that
the heart of their problem was our generosity, end that we were " generous"
only if we backed their "independence."” It told enough, however, to put the -
President on Bundy's back and Bundy on the phone with the Departments, calling
for a fresh alternative.

The Pentagon reaction was straightforward: jrritation at the lack of
British planning, anger at the charge that we had shirked our obligations,
and a willingness to let them have POLARIS as a substitute if that was what
they wanted and vere now prepared to pay for. Cooperation between Navies
could be just as between Air Forces. Regarding NATO ties, there had been no
prerequisite where SKYBOLT was concerned, so need be none with a straight
substitution. The alternative of going on with SKYBOLT as a subsidized
British project was considered and discarded; why throw good money after bad?
These were the premises on which staff work_proceeded under Gilpatric's aegis

between Wednesday and Sunday when McNamara returned.
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In State the premises were altogether different. George Ball, the Under
Secretary, had been following the SKYBOLT question only since the first week
in December; Schaetzel, formerly his own assistant, then had brought it
forcibly to his attention. But Ball was deeply, personally committed to
EEC, to British entry, to United Europe a la Jean Momnet. His connection with
Monnet ran back without a break to Lend Lease days. Ball had not regularly
followed muclear issues, but United BEurope set him against national forces,
disposed him toward Bowie's view and Owen's, whepever his attention was
engaged. Once he got into SKYBOLT his reaction, though more flexible and more
considerate of Britain's plight, did not differ essentially from theirs.

Before McNamars went to london) Ball had told Gilpatric that we must not
seem to have decided first and then consulted. He had urged McNamara to say
nothing to the British press. Now that his advice had been ignored, so it
appeered, he was to cope with what he naturally regarded as the consequences.

Tn that frame of mind Ball conferred off and on for days with his
available associates, among them Bruce who had reached Washington en route to
Nassau, Bowie along with Owen, Johnson, Kitchen and Weiss. The theme of every
session was the same: the thinking at Defense must be reversed; a "substitu-I
tion" of POLARIS must not happen. After failing to help France, opposing
land-based missiles, offering MLF, we dare not signal Europe that we would
discriminate afresh in london's favor -- especially rot now with Britain still
outside the EEC, and especizlly not POLARIS with submarines more glamorous
then Smith-Lee surface ships.

What to do? Notions of all sorts were canvassed. There was much re-
Ploughing of old ground: SKYBOLT, HOURD DOG, MLF. Bowie at one point

contributed a new thought, an Anglo-American joint study, to btuy time. Others



Th
circled back to putting prices on POLARIS, terms of NATO or of MLF commi;cment.
Weiss in desperation went the whole way back to calling for reversal of the
SKYBOLT budget decision.

Tyler, fresh from Paris, arrived on the firth day of these proceedings.
They astonished him. With his ear as sensitive as ever, he had left France
feeling .that the issue was essentially decided. He found his colleagues
talking as though what he just lived thrcrugllz was the future, not ﬁhe past.
Their discussion seemed to him unreal:

"It was something like going under water. Rerethey were,
pursuing the issue with enormous passion, as though they

could affect wvhat had already happened ... I hed been at
Juneh with Rusk and all our people when McNamara flew in

from london. Before the meal was over ome could tell how

this was ultimately going to come out .... Here they vere
in Washington still pessionate, with Rostow and Schaetzel,
who had been there, coming back to reinforce them. It was

curious."

Other returning travellers did not share this perception. Schaetzel came
home full of gloom and fight. Rostow arrived bursting with ideas; like Ball
he had got into the act late, it still intrigued him. He brought home copies
of his two most recent memoranda, both of which had gone to Rt;sk and now
reached all the others. These proposed that we distinguish sharply between
aid to bomber and to missile forces {an old idea of Kaysen's, once considered
for the Frénch) . While bomwbers lasted we could help national forces, with
offers for DeGaulie as well as Britain. It was not very clear what our
assistance would entail: the choices ranged from HOUND DOG with B-52's
attached, to further study. Regardless, as we offered aid and got our friends
to take it we could baz-'gain on the line that they stop short of surface

wissiles and accept a multilateral arrangement for that stage.
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Rostow's shortness on specifics tossed the ball to others, but his draw-
ing of a line, his stress on bargaining, his mention of the French, appear to

have left traces in the minds of some esmong his readers.
While the McNamara-Thormeyeroft exchange set off these noises at Defense
and State, its airing by the British press drew notice from another part of

Weshington. On Sa_thrday, December 15, along lead editorial in the Washington

Post commented acidly:

"Weaknesses of Skybolt as a weapon are less alarming and less
disappointing than the weaknesses in the conduct of American

foreign policy ....

" .. the Government of the United States has handled its
relations with Great Britpin with little consideration for
British feelings, and not much evidence of real concern

about the British position.

"Mhe two countries entered into a mutual agreement to develop
Skybolt. That agreement led Great Britain to abandon the
Blue Stresk and make the Skybolt the basis of the country's
thermo-nmuclear power .... the United States should have
developed an alternative proposal for maintaining Great
Britain's thermo-puclear capability, and for preserving
that nation's air arm. With this alternative in hand,
American officials of highest level should have taken the
matter directly to British counterparts.

1"
LI

"Tnstead of this, the United States Government, disclosing its
inherent misconception of the nature and gravity of the crisis,
dispatched its able Secretary of Defense to England .... But
this is not solely a weapons problem and it is alarming to see
that this Administration is handling it as though it were.

"Having begun the Skybolt matter as awkwardly as possible

there seems now a grim determination to stick to precedent

and carry through at the same fumbling level. Prime Miniser
Macmillan and Foreign Minister Home will journey to Nassau ....
The Secretary of State cannot go because he is entertaining
the Diplomatic Corps .... He may go down in history as 'the
man wvho went to dinmer' ....

e ae e The mtish m fGEling ill-used [N N
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" ... If we don't respond as a friend ought to respond to that :
feeling, their emotions will be Justified and fears about the
adequacy of the State Department confirmed."

Rusk vas the ostensible target, but the White House knew at whom the

Post was shooting.

On Sunday, December 16, the Secretary of Defenmse returned and went
straight to a meeting with the President. Gilpatric brought a:delegation
from the Pentagon. Ball'brought some of his discussants. Rusk was absent;

he had stopped in Lisbon. Bundy's notes record:

" .. McNemara indicated his opinion that we could
consider selling (Britain) the Polaris missile ....

" ... Ball expressed his grave concern .... any [suck]
arrangement ... would lead us at once to the gquestion
of what we would do to the French, and so inexorably,
to the question of ... the Germans ....

" ... The President pointed out that in the eyes of the
British there could well be a claim that the cancella-

tion of Skybolt implied some obligetion to provide a
substitute, on our part. ‘'Looking at it from their

point of view, which they do almost better than anybody',

he said, 'it might well appear to them that since Skybolt
was a substitute for Blue Streak, which they had cancelled
on our assurances, we should now provide an alternative'....

"
To say nothing of the eyes of Britain's i‘riends' in the Unitéd States, including

a Republican named Eisenhower.
Meir outlook was not mentioned but reportedly it was mch in the

President's mind. The Publisher of the Washington Post, in a persomal call,

had brought it forcibly to his attention. Sco had press reports with London
datelines. How would our bipartisen Establishment react 1f Britain charged
us with dishonoring an Eisenhower obligation? What would become of that
articulate "elite" support for European policy which Democratic Presidents

had murtured since the War? What of the board-rooms of the Post, the Times,
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Newsweek, Time-Life, end CBS? What of their influential readers and viewers?

Was Kennedy risking his mémbership card in the Council on Foreign Relations?

Bundy's notes continue:

" ... McNamare argued strongly that ... our current position
with respect to a multilateral force simply will not work
... the Furopeans [will not] buy and pay for both a multi-
lateral force and ... NATO conventional force goals ....

" ... Ball ... told the President that this might be the

biggest decision he was called upon to meke. The President's
reply was, 'That we get every week, George'. Yet the President
clearly recognized ... grave political risks for Mr. Macmillan
and serious risks also for our own policy in Burope ....

" .. further discussion ... led the President to approve, for
planning purposes, the following general proposal:

"). We would offer appropriate components of Polaris
... to the British,

1

"s. ... the British would commit their eventual
Polaris force. to a multilateral or a multi-
national force in NATO

"3, ... the British would undertake to build up
their conventional forces ... .

"L, The terms governing the use of SKYBOLT would
apply also to ... Polaris ....

" This conclusion was much influenced by the advice of

... Bruce that since we had told the world we would not
help national ... forces, we should relate any assistance
in this field of MRBM's, to a large-scale solution of the
broad problem of the Atlantic deterrent ... Hy
This conclusion was not influenced by Thormeycroft's advice that item two
made item one no substitute for him, no answer to our "obligation.” Bundy's
notes do not suggest that anybody dwelt on this. No one present had heard

Thorneycroft except McNamara. No one asked for Nitze's testimony, or Rubel's.
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Curiously, it was only in the course of this meeting that McNamara's
staff discovered he had been under some misapprehension about the original
SKYBOLT Agreement. He evidently had thought it provided for NATO assigument
of the missile-bearing V-bombers; his propositién on POLARIS thus may have
appeared to him gtraight substitution. His assistant Adam Yearmolinsky, who
had spent the past week making himself master of the files -- including
Eisenhover's own Camp David files -- hastened to correct him. The correction
did not change the present issue.

Having got this far, the President left _planning to the others for a
day while he did other things. Among these was a "vear-end" teleyision
interview with three Washington corr‘espondents. This was released on Monday,
December 17. In his response to questions, the President looked cogent and
collected. One question dealt with an advertisepent for SKYBOLT which the
Douglas Corporetion had placed in the American (and British) press. The
President replied:

" .. T saw that ad today. The only thing that we ought to

point out is we are talking about two and a half billion
dollars to build & weapon to hang on our B-52's, when we
already have billions invested in Polaris, and Mimiteman
.... I would say when we start to talk about the mega-
tonnage we could bring into a muclear war, we are talking
about annihilation. How many times do you have to hit a
target with miclear weapons? That is why when we are
talking about spending this $2.5 billion, we don't think
that we are going to get $2.5 billion worth of national
1

security....'
The next day McNamara and the President met Rusk, now home sagain, for a
1ast word before they went to Nassau while he remained behind. .(Des;'ite_the
pleadings of assorted aides the Secretary of State declined to cancel his

engagements with the Diplomatic Corps.) The three men met alope. As Rusk
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recalls, the main thing they discussed was Yarmolinsky's file-research and
its inadequacy as a test of what they owed Macmillan. No matter how the
documents might read, the British would believe that at Camp David there had
been a deal ancl in the circumstances this was not unreasonable. The preceding
Sunday evening Bundy had declared in guarded terms on "Meet The Press" that we
had no "fixed obligation." "Fixed" or not, these three accepted it as real.

With this in mind the President emplaned for Nassau.



XI. MACMILLAN MEETS DeGAULLE

While Washington was clm.rning ’ the Prime Minister of Britain spent a
miserable week;end. Tt reined at Rambouillet but weather was the least of
jt. In spresding chill, DeGaulle outdid the rain.

Macmillan and DeGaulle had lest met six months earlier, at Champs. The
weather r:md the. atmosphere were then more promising. By all accounts the PM
had convinced the General that he really was determined to come into "Europe",
accepting its political potential, acknowledging the consequences for the
Commonwealth. Besides, he had displayed awareness of the contrast between
French and British stakes in agriculiure; he had cited labor-force percentages,
20 40 5. Also, he had touched on military cooperation: he had alluded to
their two muclear forcee, and had spoken of contingency planning for joint
use in cases where America might choose to stand aside. This seems & far
ery from Thorneycroft's "collaboration”, tut not meaningless.

DeGaulle may or may not have been delighted, tut reportedly he was
impressed. If the British were so European-minded, France alone could hardly
keep them out. If they were so determined, they were bound to get in.

But six months is a long time; many things had happened after Champs.

In France, Algerian Independence Day had come and been accepted. In
Brussels, Britain had allowed the tempo of negotiations to fall off and
seemed more eager to maﬁl hard-won deals smong the Six then to accept their
agricultural arrangements. British tactics screened protracted Cabinet
efforts to choke those arrangements down. But Europeanms, like Americans,
believe in the efficiency of Engiish decision-making, so the atmosphere at

Brussels had grown cooler than before. In Germany there had been cheers for
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DeGaulle in September. There also had been the "Spiegal Affair.” One outcome
was to put the Chancellor on term. Adepauer now, his own time running out,
had become eager, anxious for the signs and symbols of a Franco-German
reconciliation; Britain counted less, France mbre.

In England, meanwhile, Macmillan had got into trouble. Never mind intent,
what of his capability? Anthony Eden had come to Paris in October and had
talked of Tory opposition to the EEC; as a British Embassy aide puts it, "he
plunged his knife into the PM's back at every opportunity.” Bugh Gaitskell
had come over in November and had talked of Labour Party opposition; if the
Tories took his country in, a iabour Government might well get out. To
underscore these views there came ‘the by-elections of November 22.

And in France three days later, on November 25, DeGaglle quite unexpec-
tedly had won a startling victory in Assembly elections. Hi§ personal party
nov was as securely in controlof the French legislative branch as he of the
executive. Adenauer might become a supplicant, Hacmillanrmight be weakening,
but he was vastly stronger than before.

When Macmillan went to Rambouillet, he had not added up the past in such
a way; his host apparently had done just that, and had drawn a conclusion.

At their first meeting, Saturday, DeGaulle did everything but say that he
would veto British membership in EEC. He did not speak of "veto"; he was
patronizing, not threatening. But he discoursed at length on every conceiv-
able obstacle to British entry, amnd'he left no doubt that in his mind these
would prove overw@elming. Britain, sad to say, was just mot ready to join
Europe, and Burope was unable to absorb a foreign body. He went so far as
to suggest that Britain would be well advised to drop her case for membership

and seek "association.”
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Macmillan was astonished, also angry. The next day, for the first time
in their relations, he insisted on speaking through an interpreter. He
wanted his response to be entirely understood and wanted to use English where
a nuance might be missed. This may not have been helpful. When the FM turned
to English the General, pridefully, kept hurrying the interpreter and fussed
him in the process.

The Prime Minister's rejoinder, Sunday morning, was devoted in the main
to refutation point by point of what he had been told the day before. He
argued Britain's Buropean-ness on DeGaulle's terms, and it is not of record
that the General was impressed.

In the process of asserting hié good faith, the PM touched on SKYBOLT.
He spoke in English, carefully. The British do not know how he was heard,
but what he said appears almost verbatim in their mimutes. He told DeGaulle
that as the Geperal knew, his miclear deterrent was dependent upon SKYBOLT.
The Americans were now in dgubt about the weapon and might capcel, having
other alternatives. If they did so he would try at Nassau to obtain POLARIS
in its stead. If he did not succeed in that, then he would have to develop
his own alternative. To do so might well mean curtgiling many other elements
in British military forces. He wished DeGaulle to know this as a possibility.
If it eventuated he would keep the French informed.

DeGaulle acknowledged the receipt of information and showed no dis-
pleasure. He later made a favorable allusion to Anglo-French cooperation on
the "Concorde" supersonic tramsport. But if this was a signal, as french
sources later claimed, the British did not see it so and doubt that he did
either. "Concorde” cooperation then and since involved two seperate national

establishments. If it had any pattern-setting relevance in muclear terms,
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this ran along the lines the FM had laid down at Champs. In British eyes,
DeGaulle and they had always been agreed that a Great Nation should have
national forces; in this they were Gaullist and he a Tory. Macmillan now
had told him that Great Britain was determined to proceed on the same course
as France, if necessary by French means: going it alone. The General's
silence signified assent, his "Concorde" reference signified a two-force
future. So Macmillan evidently thought then and still does, Parisian rumors

L1

to the contrary notwithstanding.

There had been amicable tete-a-tetes at Champs, not so at Ramboulllet.

When the two men were finished with their formal talks they bhad no more to
say to o.ne another. Macmillan left 'for England with his mind made up on one
thing: es he arrived in London he was overheard to say, "I'm damned if I'1l
go there again.” &

On Sunday afterncon, DeZulueta wrote up mimtes. Over night the British
Embassy in Paris pondered them. On Mondey morning Cabinet i-lin:l.sters -~ and
Private Secretaries -- read them with attention. Reactions were ﬁearly
unanimous. FEmbassy officials agreed, to a man, that there could be only one
meaning: DeGaulle was going to keep them ocut of EEC. After hesitation abclmt
telling the PM what he presumably had heard, the Embassy dispatched its view
to London. There, at least outside the Foreign Office, most readérs agreed.
With the reletive detachment of Great George Street, one of the Chancellor's
Secretaries recalls, "we knew at once, of course, that it was all over." And
at Admiralty House Bligh recalls, "only a bloody fool would have thought we

had a chance after that.”



But Bligh was Private Secretary not Prime Minister, a leading civil
servant not a governing politician. For Macmillan it was not so simple.
On the one hand, as Heath recalls, "we were getting split appraisals at the
Foreign Office; 1t did not look as black in Brussels as in Paris, and Paris
had been wrong before." On the other hand, and more importantly, Macmillan --
and Heath also -- had too much at stake to quit until the whistle blew. No
matter what DeGaulle might think or plan, the game was not yet over; .there
were other, independent players on his side, the Five, also the Eurocrats.
And on the British side there remained tricks to play, notably the long-

sought agricultural concessions. From his corner of the Private Office

[}
DeZulueta comments:

"Wwhen one is in a negotiation one simply camnnot know how it
will come out until it is over; to conclude prematurely
that one is bound to lose, is to disarm ome's self. The

P, characteristically, is very much aware of that. His
stance as a negotiator is never to let down until the ,.
bell, and never above all to show that one is giving up ....

"DeGaulle hed never been friendly; at Rambouillet he was

" merely colder, but that's relative. He had changed his
tack before, he might again. Besides there were the Five.
Momatter, the worse 1t looked for us the more important
to give him the sense that we were going on, straight onm,
despite him; as long and as far as we could. To let him
sense anything else would have been to play into his hands."

Bligh concurs, and adds:

"This put the PM in a special difficulty with you. He could
not very well risk press leaks from your side that he had
told Americans the French were going %o do us in. That

re would bave torn it. DeGaulle would have had more
fun with that than with POLARIS."
Besides, and more importantly, the B had a prior problem, & different.
negotiation, never mind the other. Rega.rq.less of DeGaulie and EEC, he now

must go to Kemnedy for SKYBOLT or POLARIS..
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With this next on his list, he spent a busy Monday and then flew to
meet the President at Nassau. Home accompanied him. So did Duncan Sandys,
a former Defense Minister, now Commonwealth Secretary and reputed "tough
boy" in the Cabil:let. Aid for India was on the agenda, also perhaps toughness.

Thorneycroft trailed behind; he first put in a long day at the House.
SKYBOLT was debated there that Monday. As he had foreseen, Labour jeered,
Brown crowed. "We told you so." As he had also foreseen, Tory ri_:ghtists
rallied to the Government on grounds of British honor and perfid:ious America.
Sir Arthur Vere Harvey, "Colonel Blimp" in our time, upheld the Minister for
fighting thé Americans. Thorneycroft once wanted to avoid the role; now he
had to play it for vhatever it was worth. To give their team & boost 103
Tory Members signed a motion calling on the Government to safeguerd their
deterrent. Armed with this the Minister, in his turn, flew to Nassau.

There, the PM's party learned from an American reporter of the President's
TV remarks concerning SKYPOLT. Kennedy was still in Washington; reporters had
preceded him. After a frantic seramble , Macmillan's aides obtained a text to
put before their chief. The PM then discovered that his status quo was
wrecked beyond repair. Finally and decisively, from his own point of view,
t;he weapon's reputation had been ruined. There now was nothing for it but
POLARIS. Reluctantly Macmillan put aside all thought of reversing the
President on SKYBOLT. The question that his Ministers had asked themselves
in Paris now -- and only now -- became the sole question for him: "Will they
give it to us?" His aides report that he was: from sure "they"” would.

"By all accounts the FM's mqod. was grumpy when he drove to the airpdrt

to welcome the President.
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XII. KENNEDY MEETS MACMILLAN

The Presidential party which emplaned for Nassau included the British
Jmbassador as well as key Americans: McNamara, Nitze, Ball, Tyler, Bruce, and
Bundy. Once the plane was in the air and headed south, the President invited
Gore to join him for a chat.

Then for the first time, as he recalls, the Fresident got to the_hea.rt
of the British problem, saw beneath the surface of "disaster" for the 'Tories
to the point that there were but two ways for them to ward it off: Dby hail-
ing our generosity or by assailing our bad faith. The "British problem" was
his problem; he held the key to their resolution. As Thorpneycroft had
pointed out to McNamara, they needed our support in public for the "independence”
of their deterrent. That was "generosity"; all else vas "bad faith.” The
point was pure poI_l.;i'Eics', not policy, not strategy, not diplomacy, not cost.

The President had been hearing, up to now, from his administ;ators and
diplomatists; he had not quite got the poini; before. But he dnd Gore con-
versed as politicians. In thirty minutes they devised a neat political
response: we would drop SKYBOLT as a weapon for ocurselves but we would carry
on development jointly with the British, splitting costs bé#ween us, 50-50,
so that they could get what they had sajd they wanted. Rusk once came close
to this on grounds of honor and obligation; McNemara once approached it but
his people had backed off on groumds of cost-effectiveness. The President
now seized it, and refined it, "5Q-50", as a way to square our foreign policy
with Tory politics.

What Weiss and Kitchen oncel had thought could mot be dome, the President
and Gore worked out (on paper) five weeks later in a spare half-hour. The
formula was obviocusly generous; it blocked off any charges of bad faith; yet

it kept Britain's deterrenmt on the right side of the line between bombers
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and missiles, no Puropean complications ir that. And although generous to
a fault, it raised the monetary cost of "independence" to the British, which
might hasten a rethinking of their whole deterrent posture. As a political
device for squ:aring our wants with their needs to our advantage, the 50-50
formula was very nearly perfect. Politically it had only two flaws. First,
it cost us money. Eight days before, with McNemara and Rusk, the President
had jibed at that. Now he was instructed by events. But second, a; he and
Gore soon found, they were too late. .

When their plane arrived at Nasssu they discovered this at once. After
the airport ceremonies, Gore drove off with the PM. A brief exchange sufficed
to potify Macmillan that, as he had 'supposed., the President could be backed
off some way from cancellation. But Gore fopnd. out, in turn, that_the PM had
lost taste for any SKYBOLT deal; he now assumed _the posture Thorneycroft had

held; he now wanted POLARIS. That evening, Macmillan took the President for

t

a walk and told him so.

Before that walk, the President learned of another conversation during
the journey down. Late in the afternoon, he happened to ask ‘Tyler how the
situation looked to him. Tyler responded with the substla.nce of what he and

Ball had discussed on the plane some hours earlier. Tyler than had written

Ball a note:

"George, I recommend that our objective at this meeting be to
gain time .... I recommend the Pres. and the M agree to the
setting up immediately of a joint study group respomnsible to
Pres. and P .... this group could be directed to report
recommendations on a substitute for Skybolt not later than
Jan. 15 or 20 (UK Parlisment reconvenes end Jan. 1963) ...."

Ball, who had heard of this before, from Bowie , was encouraging. Tyler
put it to the President; Ball seconded. The President had it in mind when
he went walking with Macmillan Whether he then passed it to the BM is not

clear.
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While they were walking, and for hours after, Gore was engaged in "sitting
on" Thorneycroft. If the PM now was bent upon POLARIS, the original enthusi-
ast for that approach was more concerned about his stance as fighter of
Americans. Thorneycroft, by all accounts, preferred a breach with us to any
settlement which might suggest that he had lost his battle. The atmosphere
inside the British delegation spurred him on. Brandon recalls this as the
angriest delegation in any Anglo-American "summit" since the Wer: "The only
counterpart is feeling after Suez, but then there was no "confrontation’."

Thorneycroft wanted to leave in a huff, rally the country, go it alone,
and "let you take the fall-out"”, as an Associate later put it. Gore, with
Fome supporting, argued hard. He pointed out as he recalls, that "if we try
to eclaim ti:at the Americans have let us down, they will publicize their 50-50
offer, which they'd have every right to do .... Once publicized, we youldn't
be able to sustain the claim at home that they are against our deterrent.

The offer will show that's false. It's a fair offer." Gore got Lsupport from
an unexpected quarter; Duncan Sandys acknowledged the force of his argument.
The offer, Sandys thought, was as muichas they had a right to expect. That
comment, Gore recalls, "deflated” Thorneycroft. Thus the 50-30 offer wvas of
use that night, even though the PM had refused it out of hand.

The next morning, Wednesday, December 19, the PM and the President,
with delegations present, met for formal talks. Whatever they had said the
night before, they now were talking for the record.

The Prime Minister began by recounting a history of Anglo-American nu-
clear collaboration from the war years through Camp David "interdependence”
to the present. He said he thought the other allies understood th-at

Washington and London were a "founding company" in muclear affairs with an
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historical "special-relationship." FOLARIS as a substitute for SKYBOLT merely
would sustain it, not depart from it. Why should the allies object to that?
As for EEC negotiations, these were separate and apert, wholly unconnected.
The negotiations would succeed or fail over agriculture. The effects of an
agreement on POLARIS would be "frankly, absolutely none.” Regarding multi-
lateral arrangements in the nuclear sphere, national forces would continue
side by side with any joint ones, pending supranatianal political authority.
There was no es;aping that, and France would scarcely disagree. Allied
misunderstanding did not seem to him a problem.

The President, when his turn came, ‘reviewed history from his side, and
then posed the 50-50 offer. Macmillan declined it bluntly, "the girl” had
been "violated" in a public place. The President argued without much force.
He knew what the response would be; besides his Secretary of Defende had no
enthusiasm for the thing, and showed it. As Bligh recalls, "McNamara was a
splendid chap; he sat there saying 'Balls’.” In McNamara's own terms, as he
later put it, the 50-50 offer "was not intellectually respectable except as
a last resort"; cost argued against it, so did the product, and so did British
contracting with our producer 6000 miles away. But public relations quite
sufficed for the. PM; he said "no" without reference to these other arguments.

The President had. also surfaced Tyler's scheme, proposing a joint study
of scluticns for the B;:'itish after SKYBOLT. With supportive interventlions
from Ball, he countered the Macmillan claim of Allied acquiescence if there
wvere to be decision at this ;unc‘mrq_ for POLARIS. He spoke of warnings from

Ambassadors (he had heard from Bohlen and from others as well as Bruce). He
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invoked muclear stapds to which his Govermment was wedded very pablicly: mnon-

proliferation, multilateral solutions, no aid for the French. He and Ball

between them brought up Germany.
The P4 would have none of it. He and Home dismissed the German problem

out of hand. The Germans had learned from Hitler. He then turned to attack

the issue frontally. His words were a demand for our immediate agreement

on POLARIS.
The President now got the treatment McNamara had received from Thorneycroft,

eight days before, in still more vivid form with the Prime Minister's full

weight behind it. Bundy's notes record' the PM's peroration:

"Churchill hed told him in 1940 that in logic it was impossible
to win the war, but they had gone on. There were lots of
people in Britain who would like to chuck it, which would
enable them to have better penmsions and a more satisfactory
life. The ... alternative [to a POLARIS agreement} was to,.
say this is & complicated system -- The Americans won't give
it to us -- we will go on and make it eventually and be free,
This would be better than putting a British sailor aboard ship
to have tea with the Portuguese. To give up would mean that
Britain was not the nation that hed gone through its previous
history. We should consider that if the people who wanted to
give up in Britain came to power, who would make the better
ally? Those were the ones we were supporting in Britain by
our policies. It was true that Germany was dangerous, but
not as much as before the war, because the whole balance had
changed apd there were now two super powers. Either Britain
mst stay in the miclear c¢lub or he would resign and we would
have a permanent series of Gaitskells.

"He would not engage in anything petty. We could stay at Holy
Ioch .... Britain could make submarines -- not nuclear ones --
to carry missiles. This could be accomplished ... but the .
costs would have to be compensated elsevhere .... They would
have to tax their people more as well. OSuch a course would
lead to a deep rift with the United States. He said he would

not accuse America ...."
In the midst of this statement, Macmillan inserted one sentence:

He would be prepared to put in [to NATO] all of his part of a
Polaris force provided the Queen had the ultimate power and right
to draw back in case of a dire emergency similar to 1940.
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Now everything was on the table.
Why did Macmillen spurn "Jjoint study?” Why d4id he fire all his guns for
a decision now? The answer may be that he found himself engaged in two-front
war; Thorneycroft was listening as well as Kennedy. More significant,

perhaps, is Bligh's recollection:

"The M pressed Kemnedy out of fear that if he didn't get &

conerete offer at this Jjuncture he would never get it leter.
Tf he went for a jJoint study, and’ another meeting, there .
would be no POLARIS at the end of the road. Maecmillan felt
‘this because of Kennedy's own attitude: he was obviously
reluctant to let loose of POLARIS in a bilateral deal with
us. It was plain in his whole tone and manner that he
didn't want to do it, didn't think he ought to do it. We
all sensed that.

"Beck-bench rebellion had nothing to do with it. That began
after Nassau. There was rumbling before, but it was anti-
Anerican, not anti-Macmillan. The howl afterwvards was raised
by press reports which got it wrong and called the outcome &
tdefeat!. If we'd takep a joint study instead, he wouldn't
have been any worse off afterwards, and maybe better, pro-
vided he could have passed the word in private that you'd
be generous when the study was done.

"Tt wasn't the back-benchers but policy, and perhaps election
politics, that he hed on his mind. He thought the deterrent
was good for the country, and he'd better try to get it then
and there.” : '

So the "playing on our friendship and our fears" which Bowie had predicted
came to pass in a more formidable fashion than he, perhaps, had thought about
when he advised reliance upon Presidential "nerve." The President now faced
an impassjorned older man embodying a valued weaker ally, who invoked in his
own person a magnificent war record, an historic friendship, and a claim upon
our honor -- in Eisenhower's name <- to say nothing of one politician's feeling
for another. McNeamara and Thormeycroft had spoken different languages; these

two spoke the same.
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All these ingredients were mixed into the FM's peroration. Macmillan
evidently had not put them there in conscious calculation of the other man's

psychology. As Bligh recalls,

"He was not being tricky, nor was he making a cool calculation of
the Kennedy psychology. He was simply msking the strongest
piteh he could, making the best effort in his power, mustering
all the arguments he could think of ....

"If the President had responded 'I'm sorry but I can't ....7,
the PM wouldn't have taken to drink, or resigned or anything.
He'd have gone on to face the situation as it then presented
jtself, feeling that he'd done the very best he could -- and ‘
able to point out to Thorneycroft, an attentive witness, that
he had done the best there was to do.

"If Kemnedy had said those words the PM would be sitting in
office yet, just as he is now ...."

With this view of the proceedings, Bligh himself “sat on the window ledge
and waited for the President to say 'Prime Minister, I'm sorry ....'. The words
never came.” To have expected them marks the detachment of a Senior Civil
Servant, which perbaps is not unlike that of a Harvard Professor .

Whatever else the President may have thought, one thing no doubt was
plain to him, that the chiefs of our Governmment, McNamara, Rus}r., and he himself,
nad never been disposed to withhold an agreement on POLARIS if there were no
other way to meet the British problem. Three days earlier, December 16, he
had cleared for planning purposes a British POLARIS force assigped to NATO.

He since had seen two more attractive schemes. Macmillan had rejected these
but would accept the other as a new phase of "interdependence”, provided he
could get one modification: an escape-clause which preserved the pretiocus
symbolism of his "1nd_ependenéé." The President was not prepared to balk at
thet proviso. Instead he turnmed attention to its terms, and to what Britain

could do for us in respoase.
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There followed a succession of informal talks and formal meetings, focussed
on the words in which agreement should be couched. The extent of our concession
to the British and the character of their response were worked out in the guise
of drafting a communique. Policy discussion in the acet of choosing words,
negotiation in the act of swapping drafts, were hasty, improvised affairs.
Besides, "there were so few of us", as Tyler puts it. And those few d.-id not
include the working draftsmen of our prior pronouncements on muclear affairs.

For Owen and his colleegues "multilateral” was a term of art, now signi-
fying nothing tut "Smith-Lee." Our men at Nassau used it interchangeably with
"miltinational”, and thought exclusivel;' of submarines. The pain this caused
in State need nmot be described. The British, though, were pleased. It had
been quite a shock to £ind that we insisted on a "multilateral” solution. It
vas quite a relief to find that we encompassed in the term a NATO ‘iassignment
of national forces. With this they were prepared to live, on¢e they had their
escape-clause. They even were prepared to be forthcoming. Macmillan offered
to begin the move toward bmaﬁ, allied solutions, by putting his V-bombers
"into NATO" at once. Tt later turned out that their notion of assignment was®
so loose as to be useless in our eyes, but at the time this seemed a real
return for our concession. He also offered to collaborate with us in further
exploration of a mixed-manned force so that nationms (Germans) without national
deterrents might obtain a voice in NATQ nuclear affairs.

Here was a change of front in British views on MLF, or so it then appeared.
Together with the gesture on-V-bombers, and a bow to conventional forces, this

comprised their quid pro quo for an escape-clause. We took them up on it and

made ocur deal.
A "Statement on Nuclear Defense Systems" was Jointly drafted for issuance

as part of the Commmunique. It read:
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" ... The President and the Prime Minister agreed that POLARIS must
be considered in the widest context ... an opportunity for ... new
and closer arrangements ... of strategic Western defense ....

"6) The Prime Minister suggested ... a start be made by sub-
scribing to NATO some part of the forces already in existence.
This could include allocation ... from United Kingdom Bomber
Comeand .... assigned as part of & RATO nuclear force ....

"7) Returning to Polaris [they] agreed that the purpose of their
two governments with respect to the provisions of Polaris missiles
must be the development of a multilateral NATO muclear force in

the closest consultation with other NATO allijes. They will use
their best endeavors to this end.

"8) Accordingly, [they) agreed that the U.S. will make available

. Polaris missiles (less warheads) .... British forces ...
under this plan will be assigned and targeted ... as the forces

described in paragraph 6. ,
"These forces, and at least equal U.S. forces, would be made
available for inclusion in a NATO multilateral puclear force
.+.. except where H.M.G. may decide that supreme national
interests are at stake, these British forces will be used for
the purposes of ... The Western Alliance in all circumstances.”
Th¢s language made explicit our agreément_to supply them with POLARIS.
Not wholly und.e;.i‘berately, it left the larger issues less than clear. What
was a "NATO multilateral muclear force" in which their submarines and ours
would be "included?" Expanded forces under Paragraph 67 An adaptation of
"Smith-lee?" A combination? Time and other govermments would have to tell.
Meanwhile, neithef of these govermments tied its prestige to any single
answer. So both Chiefs of ‘GCovernment seem to have thought. Both were
satisfied to have it so. Both wished to know what time would show before
they got "committed." |
This was a subtle outcome, ambiguities were purposeful. The purpose was
protection for each govermment's pféétige in launching an untested, improvised
initiative with Frenchmen, Germans, and assorted others. Bruce, a spectator

at these proceedings, whose own views were unambiguous, later commented:
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Macmillan was so pleased to have done better than he feared
he would, a victory in his eyes, that we could have got
anything we wanted out of him, even an MLF commitment on
the spot, if only we'd known what we wanted ....

Not having planned to give them an escape-clause, we were unprepared %o
name our price and improvised accordingly. This has depressed Bruce ever
since, along with meny others. But that improvisation does not account,
altogether, “or the lack of specificity in what we told the world. As evénts
would disclose, the President and the Prime Minister alike had more at steke
than trades between themselves; they had at stake what they could "sell" to
others, an unknown. While they explor'ed. it they were loath to buy a peddler's
Jicense in the coin of their prestige. They would bave shied avay from this,
presumably, no matter what their offers to each other.

Judging from what he later said to others, the President undfrstood that
very well. Bundy also may have understood it, then or later. Not so most of
their colleagues at Nasssu or in Washington. Way should thej'r"t Others mostly
read into the words of the Comuniqu-e a license for vhatever product they
wanted to sell. Interpretations were as varied as the policy perspectives
of a Nitze and an Owen. Thus "Nassau” helped to set the stage for still
another story, "MLF."

While the Communique was being put in f£inal form, the ™ asked for time
to consult his Cabinet; he could act only with their approval. Rather reluc-
tantly, the President agreed to wait a day. Thereupon, Macmillan cabled their
agreement to the Deputy Prime Minister in London, asking a reply within four
hours of receipt as an accommodation to the waiting President. Strictly
speaking, the Prime Minister was under less restraint than this suggests;

flanked by Home, Sandys, and Thormeyeroft, he could have told London, not
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"eonsulted." But "form" in English governing has very real Importance; "non-
arbitrariness” secures Prime Ministers against a host of troubles, as Eden
found when he did otperwise on Suez. Even Winston Churchill at the height of
' his personal power was punctilious ebout the forms of "eollective responsi-
bility"; he ealways consulted his colleagues. Macmillan was disposed to do no
less. He had no doubt of their respomse: with the key members at Nassau and

four hours to reply, the "rump” in London scarcely could demur, and did not

1

do so.

The Cabinet's reply was acquiescent. Enthusiaem, though, was far from

high. Cary recalls:

"left to their own devices, the Cabinet at home would rather have
seen Nassau conclude with a joint-study of what should be done
after Skybolt cancellation - ‘and then another meeting. Kennedy's
proposal would have been acceptable. Members at home weren't
pressing for an. immediate decision; they were, indeed, dubious
about teking this decision without further study. Had they been

S ——

allowed even as much as 24 hours for their douhts to crystallize
they might have cabled a preference for joint-study back to the
™.

"Butler and Mcleod weren't sold on the deterrent; Maudling was
concerned about the money; so was Boyle. Heath was terribly
worried about Brussels .... Mountbatten, whose views would
have been heard had time allowed, was scornful about going on
with Skybolt, but he also was unprepared for and unhappy about
Polaris ...."

But time did mot allow for second thoughts, even had Macmillan wished to know

them, which he didn't. The President was waiting. Butler cabled their agree-

ment. The Prime Minister could act on his own terms. There obviously are

some ways to get a quick ;- and favorable -- decision out of H.M.G., especially

if one is the Prime Minister vho has a President to use as his excuse. |
While Macmillan at Nassau vas "waiting" for his colleagues, the Americans

were thir;king about France. How hard would this agreement hit our aims in

Burope, never mind the PM's bland assurances? How was this form of
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"miltilateral solution" to be fostered? How might we turn this deal to good
account? IDeGau]_'I.e stood at the center of all questions.

Answers for; the moment seemed to lie in offering the French what we
agreed to give the British. DeGaulle had shown no inclination to accept assis-
tance for his nuclear force if there were any hint that aid might compromise
its independence. But Britain's escape-clause might do for him as well as for
Macmillan. An offer of POLARIS on the same terms might conceivably entice him
back to NATO, to cooperation, even "integration." At the least it might induce
him to be courteous at Brussels while he thought the matter over. (We did not
know what he had sald at Rambouillet, ‘:mt knew enough of what the French were
saying elsewhere to be nervous.) .And at most, if he should spurn the offer,
everyone would know 'that we had tried to deal with Franée Just as we dealt
with Britain. L'.[herefore we should make him the same offer, and at once.

How to make DeGaulle an offer? Thonght was given hurriedly to a dramatic
gesture: Macmillan should fly back to France or Kennedy might go there. But
neitherlpicked the notion up and it got lost amidst distractions of last-
ninute work on the Communique. A letter then would be the vehicle. Bohlen
had been brought to Nassau; he could go to Paris and pursue the matter orally.
The letter could be short and he explanatory. So it was decided.

It also was decided to send Adenauer notice of what we had done for
Britain and would now propose to France. His letter was dispatched and then
delivered with such promptness that we could not call it back. But meamwhile
ve had realized that we did not know what it would take to deal with France
and Britain even:handed.]y

To offer France the "same" terms on POLARIS was insulting. BEritain had
the miclear technology to build warheads and submarines; the French did not.

How far they were from this we scarcely knew. We offered Britain missiles;



to give France no more was to give less. But giving an equivalent meant
moving toward direct support for French nuclear programs. We had avoided
this before and in the process had lost touch with their pro'gran.lming. Even
if we dropped our "no aid" policy, nobody knew at Nassau what the aid would
have to be.

Therefore, pending study, "same" was changed to "similar" in the letter
for DeGaulle. It proved too late to make that change in Adenauer's letter.
No doubt the Elysée read both.

At Nassau the Americans monopolized concern about the French. "Months
later, the President reportedly told A:.:dre Fontaine of lLe Monde that our
offer to DeGaulle had been suggested by Macmillan. If so it was a private
hint which the PM did not think worth discussing with his people. No one
on the British side, in London or in Paris, betrayed to me the least aware-
ness that our offer had been anything but sheer "public relations.” No one
saw the least significance in substituting "similar" for "same.” Macmillen
way have planted the idea ;- Ball, Tyler, Nitze were also on the scene --
but not, apparently, with amy serious pu.irpose. Where DeGaulle was concerned,
the PM ceded seriousness to us. Five days had passed since Rambouillet and
now he had PO_LARIS to bring home.

On Friday, December 21, the Nassau Conference ended. The President went
off to Palm Beach, taking Gore and Bohlen with him. Bohlen flew to. Paris
shortly after. The PM's party lingered on for talks with the Canadians, then
flew home in high spirits. It had been a hard week, but not a bad one.

Their elation was short-lived. Iarge sections of the British- press and
of the Tory party saw them coming without SKYBOLT end transporting home

instead the paper promise of a costly, NATO-tied, American device which did
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not fit V-bombers and would go in vessels yet unbuilt. For that matter, the
missiles were not built; the FPM had insisted on A-3's. Initial press reaction
was to cry "defeé.t." The House was happily in recess. Tempers were not
ipproved by an announcement from our Air Force of what loosely was described
as a successful test for SKYBOLT. This was almost the last gasp of Air Force
resistance, but the British did not know that until later.

Meanwhile, the rest of the Americans flew back to Washington and went to

see the Secretary of State.
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XIII. "POST-NASSAU PLANNING"

The Americans who flev to Washington from Nassau were relaxed in relief
at the conclusion of a difficult, potentially disruptive confrontation. In
their relief thejr all were optimistic for the future. But their mutual
confidence had diverse sources. Each man looked to the future from his own
predisposition; each saw in Nassau's outcome opportunities to further the
particular perspective with which he himself viewed "pasic NATO policy": and
Buropean prospects.

McNemara and Nitze were perticularly pleased. The POLARIS offer to the
British, with its NATO assigrment and escape-clause, seemed to them a perfect
formula on which negotiation with the French could be begu-n. "If 'Skybolt!
hadn't happened, 1t should have been invented . ..." The negat'ive desision of
six months before could now be set aside. DeGaulle, like Macmillan, might
£ind this formula sufficiently protective for the independence of his national

deterrent. If so, the French could "rejoin" NATO with their force de frappe

for targeting and planning. This might not be ideal but would be an improve-
ment, as close as one could come, in present circumstances, toward "integra-
tion" of French miclear forces. Once negotiation began, on this formula,
DeGaulle might be enticed by warheads and by submarines. Thus "similar" could
be rendered "equivalent.”

Nitze visualized another "spoke" in his "wheel"; McNamara visualized
French fupds for conventional forces. And if negotiation proved that DeGaulle
was not interested, even on '-the.'basi-.-s of this. formile, we would know where we
stood with him once and for all. Even a negative ocutcome could :Lm-prove the

status quo: it would put to rest all doubt about our prior negativism.
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In the perspective of these two men from Defense, "multilateral” meant
"multinational"” for us, for Britain, and for France, but it could 2lso mean
"Smith-Lee" for Germans and for lesser fry, as one component of a NATO muclear
force, tied to NATO targetting and tied to us through our participation --
still another spoke for Nitze's wheel.

Ball saw all this differently. The British formula was worth supporting
if it made life bearable for Tories while they did their work of brihging
Britain into EEC. It was worth offering the French since a negotiation might
entangle them in such a way as to assuz;e complalsance toward the British at
the coming round of talks on EEC. But onée the British had got into "Burope",
we should modify that formula as fast as possible, and work our way back to
the safe ground of a "truly" multilateral solution -- MLF. Otherwise, the
German problem would remain to haunt us. So long as France and Britain were
enabled with our aid to maintain something different and more tlrzaticmal,
"Smith-lee" was bound to imply a "discrimination” against Germans. When we
could, we should return to our attack on national forces. MLF remained the
route. And meanwhile we should reassure the Germans that it remained our
goal for everybody, not just them.

Like his colleagues from Defense, the Under Secretary of State was
pleased at Nassau's outcome, but what pleased him most was the term "multi-
lateral”, so used as to retain a connotation of "mixed-manned." From this
Ball drew some personal satisfaction; he recalls, "If the Secretary had gone |
and I'd stayed home, MLF would havé been lost entirely."”

As for Bundy, it was later said in State that he had.liked the outcome
"because he saw something in i‘.t for everybody, a typical 'Dean's solution'."

If so, his liking seems entirely reasonable in light of his respomsibilities
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as aide to the one man who needed most to know how forces were arrayed, where
history was tending, before he put his own foot down irrevocably. Indeed,
what seems less reasonable is that as the weeks passed Bundy, among others,
was unable to control the bureeucratic process by which balances were upset
faster than the White House wanted and an outsize "Merchant Mission”, more
bludgeon than scalpel, turned a probe of MLF into "commitment." But that is
another story. C

When their plane touched down in Washington, these five drove to the
State Department and saw Rusk. They rePorted on the recent past and canvassed
future prospects. It was generally agreed that there would have to be inten-
sive follow;up on all aspects of Nassau: a sales-agreement for the British,
an examination ¢f the bases for negotiation with the French, a look into the
ways and means for NATO muclear forces, both "mmltinational” and "truly"
multilateral, ineluding adaptation of the Smith-lee offer. It also was agreed
that State should lead the follow-up, assembling inter-agency task forces for
the purpose. Rusk prepared to get this under way at once. Taking him aside,
McRamara urged that it be put in other hands than Owen's or Schaetzel's. Rusk
thereupon named Kitchen as his representative to lead the total effort and to
chair a ”steering group" with sub-groups for each phase. In the next days
Kitchen was to draw on men from both Departments. As he did so, Owen was
assigned to the sub-group on MLF and Schaetzel to the sub-group on France.
This may not have been quite what McNhﬁara intended, but subordinate assign-
ments were "details" and the'authorify was Rusk's. DBoth at the start and
later, the Seecretary of Defense forebore to press the point befond kitchen';

level.
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Once the general cutline of "next steps" had been agreed, McNamara and
Nitze flew west for the holidays. Ball and Bundy went their ways. Rusk
started Kitchen off and set December 28 for an initial meeting with his group.

Then Christmas Iintervened.

Had there been any opportunity to influence the French, that intervention,

although brief, seems fatal.
The President was in Palm Beach for Christmas. On his way there from
Nassau, he and Bohlen had discussed our offer to the French. Bohlen recalls:

"The President was in no sense optimistic about the prospects of
negotiation with the French. At no point in our conversation
did he suggest that he was ready %o give warhead or submarine
assistance to the French. But I got the clear impression that
he had not excluded these possibilities. What he wanted above
all was to get the General into sericus negotiation and estab-
lish some real contact. He knew that if we started, and if
DeGaulle were forthcoming, warheads and submarines might follow.
He wasn't excluding them as possibilities. On the other hand,
he had very much in mind the Congressional hazards, and other
hazards, if he were to go that far and when we talked he wasn't
ready to assume he'd have to. He knew we wouldn't have to if
DeGaulle acted as usual. But this is not to say he was

unwilling to ...."

In some such frame of mind, the President received the French Ambassador,
Herve Alphand, just after Christmas. The White House files do not disclose
the date, but Gore who was a house guest recalls that Alphand afterwards,

" ... came out like a 'cock-of-the-walk'. He intimated plainly
that the President had given him a hint which made him happy.
He could smell warheads at the end of the road. Maybe our
warheads, which would have been all right. If they got into a
serious negotiation he could see that at the end 'similar' would
be converted into 'equal!, perhaps in a tri-partite context.”
But Alphand evidently did not convey this impression to his government. Or if
he did the French chose to dilute it. An American correspondent was informed

by French officials that Alphand found Kennedy "non-committal” about warheads.
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If that was the Alphand report, he may have had some reason to temper

his initial show of optimism. On instruction from the Elysee, reportedly,

the French were out in force for ten days after Nassau, attempting to gauge

Washington's intentions. On December 27, their Counselor of Embassy

Schaetzel on the matter. Schsetzel's notes record:

"He asked what a 'similar arrangement with France' meant.

quizzed

I said

we were still developing our thinking ... but my personal view
was that it ought to be considered exactly similar to the
arrangements worked out with the British .... X said it presunm-
ably excluded technical warhead assistance and presumably the

British and the French would construct their own muclear

submarines ...." ,

Schaetzel was in for a surprise. The next day he Joined other members of

the Kitchen group to hear his Secretary lay down lines for them to follow.

With respect to French negotiations, Schaetzel's special charge, the

of that meeting show:

" ... Mr. Schaetzel ... did not think we could or should at
this time attempt to have [Bohlen], in his initial discus-
sions with the French, amplify on the Nassau Agreement.
The Secretary agreed this would be premature since the
details were yet to be developed. However, he stated that
the discussions should ... avoid a premature foreclosure

to a full exchange of views ....

"The Secretary stated ... that all aiternatives should be
explored at this time .... While he did not, for example,
believe we should indicate our immediate willingness to
provide muclear assistance to France, even this previous

mimites

fundamental policy should be re-evaluated in light of Nassau.
The key would be a sufficiently fundamental change in French
policy. The irmediate matter, however, was not to judge ...

but rather to explore all possible avenues ...."

Without enthusiasm, Schaetzel did as he was told. He organized his sub-

group and called two meetings which were marked by clashes between .members

from Defense and State with different views of "urgency" and differing degrees

of ignorance about French nuclear programs. The group then turned to study

without meeting. They still were doing so on Jamuary 14.
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Meanwhile, after some debate in Schaetzel's group and elsewhere, State
cabled Bohlen, now back at his post. The cable contained his "instructions."
These reached him Jarmuary 2. He was not very pleased to have them after

Nassau and Palm Beach:

" ... the points that should be given particular emphasis are
first, that the U.S. is prepared to make a major decision of
policy and to accord to France -- at least sofar as the
Nassau proposals are concerned -- the same status as Britain,
but only on the understanding that the French themselves
revise their policy to accept the multilateral principle.

" ... the French cannot at this juncture be apprised of the
exact nature of further U.S. assistance, beyond the offer
of the 'similar arrangement'’, as suggested by the President
in his letter to DeGaulle."

The American Ambassador proceeded to the Elysee and put his best foot
forwvard with fhe President of the Republic. DeGaulle did not appear enthused
but Bohlen thought him interested and cheerfully "exceeded" State's instruc-
tions (as he read them). He did not exceed White House intent. DeGaulle wvas
told, in Bohlen's recollection, that "no possibilities were excluded, all
relationships were open for discussion”; our offer from Nassau represented
"a beginning, not an end." The end would be discovered through negotiation.
We were eager for a serious exploration. But we lacked the information to
proceed alone; we hoped the French would join us.

Bohlen left the Elyséé quite hopeful of the outcome. DeGaulle, he
thought, would probably negotiate to see what did lie at the end and at what
Price. Bohlen was aware that if the General did so he could not, at the same
time, be beastly to the British. And our man's hopes were raised by what his
English colleague told him. The British Ambassador also saw the General;
DeGaulle had volunteered that he intended to be "cautious" in his forthcoming

press conference, January 1lb. This cheered the Englishman, and Bohlen too.
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In Washington, meanwhile, Owen had produced a memorandum analyzing
Nassau's impact on our Buropean policy. He wrote:

"]. Problem. Nassau left us with two tracks to pursue:

(a) Missile help for UK and French national MREM forces,
in return for these countries' commitments to support and
eventually include their FPolaris forces in a multilateral
force.

(b) Creation of a multilateral mixed manned force,
which would be open to all NATO nations.

"o, Basic Course. It is in our interest to press ahead
vigorously with the second track. .

This will tend to absorb Cerman and Italian post-Nassau
miclear pressures.... Moreover, progress toward a mlti-
lateral force will betokgn to these countries the possible
eventual end of UK and French national Polaris forces and
thus the possible end of intra-Buropean discrimination ....

"
On those premises he urged that NATO organs and the Germans should be re-
assured of our fidelity to pre-existing policy pronouncements, and should

have authoritative word that MLF remained our favored "track.” ‘

The logic appealed widely inside State, and elsewhere there was general
recognition of a need for soothing noises at the Forte Dauphine and Bonn.

Even in Defense, where Owen's premises were scarcely shared, there was no
disposition to ignore the Germans. Ball met no opposition when he volunteered
to explain Nassau to them.

On Jaruary 10, the Under Secretary flew to Paris for a session with the
North Atlantic Council. While there he spent some time with the French For-
eign Minister, Couve de Murville. Ball passed a Pleasant evening with his
English colleague Heath, who also had seen Couve and had been told that if
" the British came to terms on technical issues "no power on earth” could keep

them out of EEC. Ball then flew to Bonn, and on the morming of the 1kth met

with Adensuer. As Ball recalls, that meeting fully justified his trip:
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. "The Chancellor began by saying 'This morning I awoke with
the terrible feeling that this was the day I would have a
serious disagreement with the Americans'. Before the morning
ended he was reassured. When I started to describe what we

had in mind by Paragraph 7 of the Nassau Commnique, Adenasuer
asked 'Is this the Smith-lee force?' When I said 'Yest he
brightened visibly and expressed satisfaction.”

To our Ambassador in Paris, nothing justified Ball's trip. No matter how
pleased he had made the Chancellor that morning, Bohlen blames him for what

DeGaulle did that afternoon:

"When George saw Couve he told him that the whole emphaéis of
Nassau's multilateral arrangements was on the mixed-manned force.
Couve expressed surprise. Clearly, if this 1is what Nassau did
mean, DeGaulle could have no conceivable interest in it. No
doubt he heard of it from Couve and then attached George's words

to everything I had told'him ....

"Until then I think he had seen the 'multilateral’ business as
something for the somewhat distant future. Meanwhile, with our
help he could speed up creation of his nastional forces. Then,
when the future came to be decided he would have an,equal voice
in working out what 'multileteral' should mean, if anything,
beyond NATO assignment.

"Now George had changed the timing. George made it sound as
though what we were after was a quick move toward very tight,
essentially non-national arrangements. If this was our timing
the vhole thing became plainly unacceptable. That's what
surprised Couve. I think it's what decided DeGaulle.”

This is interesting but rather hard to credit; DeGaulle, reportedly,
commits to memory every line he utters in "press conference." Bohlen's
view presumes a heavy task of memorization in one week-end.

Couve reportedly discounts this view on more substantial grounds. He
recently told Brandon, among others, that his master's sense of Nassau had
been much like that in most initial English press reports: Macmillan for-
feited "independence”, lost his fight, ceme home without the national deter-
rent he had told the French at Rambouillet he would maintain. This is alleged
as the decisive factor in DeGaulle's response to Nassau, a factor present

before Ball arrived upon the scene.
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British Foreign Office sources disbelieve both explanations. In their
eyes the "decisive factor" antedated Rembouillet. The General had decided
that they should not enter EEC. If so, he had to turn our nuclear offer down,
or else risk their ability to bargain their way in. Nassau gave him a dra-
matic chance to slam the door, no "ifs", or "buts", or technical obscurities.
why should DeGaulle the dramatist deny himself this chance to do what he would
otherwise have done by other means? There was nothing to dissuade him but our

uncertain "beginning." We could not offer more; that could not be enough. We

1

missed no "opportunity”; there was none to be taken.

In the British Defence Ministry, the retrospect is different. Thorneycroit

himself remarks: '

"you never could and never will get DeGaulle into nuclear
collaboration with you. It 1s too transatlantic. He

means it when he says he will not let France 'down'. It

is we who can bring him into collaboration, with us and

so with you. Our joint deterrent could be linked with

yours through NATO. That is the only way. But just as g

he can't be a 'demandeur’ with us, so we can't be with you ....

"You must tell us we can carry our technology across the
Channel. We can't ask. To do so would cast doubt upon
us. You might want to stop sharing secreis with us from
then on. Very well. But you must free us to share past
secrets with them ...." : '

This is quite a statement from a Minister familiar with Macmillan, & man
who did not hesitate in 1957 to "ask" us to amend the Atomic Energy Act, and
at Camp David three years later asked for SKYBOLT. To Thorneycroft, I take

it, this is a debater's point (and I a member of the House).

He continues:

"We wouldn't propose that course to you before Nassau. But
in my personal opinijon.if you had proposed it we'd be in
the Common Market now and France would be in the Allijance,
with us and with you .... My colleagues didn't think we
could 'buy our way in' [to EEC]. I don't agree.

"fis is the course we shall all have to take some day. We
could have done it in 1962."
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So the Foreign Office and Defence contend. Their views of past events are
not without significance today, witness the Cabinet on MLF. Regardless, one or
another may be right, and Bohlen wrong, and Couve & rationalizer. Nobody knows

except DeGaulle.

On January 14, the General staged his drama. When he met the press that
afternoon he let them know that he would keep the British ocut of Europe. Much
of what Macmillan had been told a month before was now put on the public record:

"England is, in effect, insular, maritime, linked through its
trade, markets and food supply to very diverse and often very
distant countries .... In short, the nature, structure and
economic context of England differ profoundly from those of
the other States of the Continent.

g ]
"One was sometimes led to believe that our English friends,
in applying for membership in the Common Market, agreed to
change their own ways even to the point of applying all the
conditions accepted and practiced by the Six, but, the
question is to know if Great Britain cea at present place
itself, with the Continent .... »

"One cannot say that it has now been resolved. Will it be
so one day? Obviously Britain alone can answer that....

" _.. It is possible that Britain would one day come round
to transforming itself enough to belong to the European
Community without restriction and without reservation, and
placing it ahead of anything else, and in that case the Six
would open the door to it and France would place no obstacle

in its path ....

"It is also possible that England is not yet prepared to do
this, and that indeed appears to be the outcome of the long,

long Brussels talks ...."
The General then proceeded to reject our Nassau offer:

"Prance has taken note of the Anglo-American Nassau agreement.
As it was conceived, undoubtedly no ocne will be surprised that
we cannot subscribe to it. It truly would not be useful for
us to buy Polaris missiles when we have neither the submarines
to lsunch them nor the thermonuclear warheads to arm them ....
In other words, for us, in terms of technology, this affair is

not the question of the moment.
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"But also, it does not meet with the principle ... which consists
of disposing in our own right of our deterrent force. To turn
over our weapons to a multilateral force, under & foreign command,
would be to act contrary to that principle of our defense and our
policy. It is true that we too can theoretically retain the
ability to take back in our hands, in the supreme hypothesis, our
atomic weapons incorporated in the multilateral force. But how
could we do it in practice during the unheard of moments of the
atomic apocalypse? And then, this multilateral force necessarily
entails a web of liaisons, transmissions and interferences within
itself, and on the outside a ring of obligations such that, if an
integral part were suddenly snatched from it, there would be a
strong risk of paralyzing it just at the moment, perhaps, when it
should act. :

"In sum, we will adhere to the decision we have made: to construct
and, if necessary, to employ our atomic force ourselves."

Quite ummistakably, the General understood and did not like precisely what
attracted McNemara and Nitze: an approach toward integratlon, a transatlantic
tie, a "web of liaisons, transmissions, and interferences." DeGaulle cared more
for independence than Macmillan. His concern went beyond symbols (or
"beginnings") to specifics. DeGaulle, in French, was talking McNemara's
language as he turned his back on McNemara's aims. s

In Brussels, two weeks later, the French halted Britaint's effort to Join
EEC. The Six could not continue to negotiate. Heath went home.

In London, the FM prepared to face -- and to face down -- an ocutery from
his paerlismentary critics. History now helped him: he could speak of the
Americans as friends and France spoke for herself. Many Tories were relieved;
next to getting into EEC triumphantly, there was no better posture than to be
kept out by Frenchmen. Macmillan may have sensed this all along. Disinterest
in our offer to the French suggests he did.

At any rate, the FM got through House debate without losing his hold upon
POLARIS. For this DeGaulle deserves some credit, also Kemnedy. As one of

Thorneycroft's assistants .put it: "That television program in December really
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helped us with the RAF and Navy and their friends. If they wanted a deterrent
force at all, and links to you, they had to climb aboard POLARIS after that.”

In Washington, amidst the ruin of assorted hopes for other things, the
budget went to Congress without SKYBOLT. The President’s TV remarks a month
before were amplified in telling fashion, and the cancellation now appeared in
context of the deficit. This "last act" of my story evoked minimal) reaction.
The Air Force scarcely raised its head and friends in Congress scarcely bothered
to complain. For many Washingtonians "Skybolt" remains a dirty word. Hitch is
not among them.

While tl;e budgetary lssue va.nis'hed from the scene, officlials alternately

cursed DeGaulle and canvassed their constricted range of choice. The Merchant

Mission followed in due course.
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XIV. CONCLUSION
An appraisal of this story is a matter for judgment. In what follows I
have drawn upon my OwWn. Every point is afguable. Readers are on notice.
To appraise the story one must first decide what were its costs and

benefits for whom. If evidence sustained the charge that it caused"
DeGaulle's check to Monnet's Europe, it might well deserve the label of
ngisaster" which was often pasted on it after Jenuary l4. I find nothing to
sustain the.éharge. The outcome, then, was no disaster for our Government.
But this is not to say it cost us nothing.

What were the costs to us? '

First, we gave DeGaulle a stage-set for his drama; he is ingenious and
he might have done as ?ell without, but we made easy what might have come
hard. Second, when his action blighted many other hopes, the MQF emerged as
something we could cling ;o; we clung and got committed in the process with
no company of note except the Germans. Whether this will turn out to have
been a long-term benefit, nobody knows. In the short run I include it as a
cost because it is so plainly what the constitutional conductor of our foreign
relations did not want.

Third, we paved the way toward this result, and others, by intensifying
paranoid reactions in our 6wn officialdom. After Nassau, Indians were more
estranged from Chiefs than they had been before, and more discordant in
relations with each other. Three indicative examples: Kitchen and Schaetzel,
for a time, stopped speaking to_each other. _Owen_and Rowen more or less lost

touch. Rostow still thinks Nassau a disaster. Another indication: Schaetzel



and Owen, among others, see the Secretary of Defense as an inveterate
meddler in their Secretary's business. McNamara sees them as Rusk's Admiral
Andersons. Paranoid ;eactions are not quite confined to Indianms.

Fourth, we deposited on top of Suez new stuff to feed paranoid reactions
in Great Britain. Transatlantic attitudes resemble trans-Fotomac omes. Not
merely Tory right-wingers but many correspondents of "respectable" papers,
some officials in major Ministries, some Ministers, some wogld-be Ministers,
are a degree more wary of us after SKYBOLT than before. Last summer's brief
eruption of Establishment suspiciousness about the Newsweek piece on their
security is traceable d;rectly to the wounds of eight months earlier. In
July 1963, reportedly, it was alleg;d by "informed" civil servants, never
mind the press, that Kennedy himself had planted the piece as an excuse for
scuttling our Agreement on POLARIS. .

The Thorneycrofts of Britain -- who are not confined to Tory ranks --
regard their #ies to us as matters of cold intergst, and a;e more inclined
than ever to believe we do the same. The senior civil servants who regarded
us most warmly after war-collaboration are retired, or retiring, in droves.
Suspicion spreads with fewer checks than formerly, and SKYBOLT helped to |
spread it. )

Fifth, in many circles on the Continent, this Skybolt-Nassau sequence
fed the sense that our conceptions and our execution were alike erratic.
More importantly, it left a base on which later impressions could pile up,
not least in the ensuing course of MLF and dollar-saving exercises. In
short, we drew down our political credit.

Sixth, to some degree we did the same at home, and left a sense of

disarray, improvisation, "trouble", casting doubt upon the credit-line
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extended after Cuba. This story seems the least of causes for such doubts
among our wider public, but within our own bipartisan Establishment we surely
paid some price, and still are paying.

Seventh, and most speculative, we "lost" ﬁhat maybe was a chance to fur-
ther our procleimed concern for European unity and strategic integration.
Nassau may have been an opportunity; McNamara may have been correct in
thinking "Skybolt" was an issue worth inventing to produce that opmﬁmity.
If the President and PM had been able to keep their minds on DeGaulle; if he
had been, or could have been induced to turn, a shade less French; if we had
spent the months preceding Nassau thinking through a Furopean nuclear deter-
rent based on Anglo-French collaboration; and if we had liked it when we
thought it through -- then Nassau would have set a different stage and
Thorneycroft's prediction might have come to pass.

Were governing as easy as some journalisis suppose, this "lc:st chance"
should rank first among my costs. But there are far too many "ifs" in it for
me. I note it but I'm not inclined to count it.

So much for costs to us, what of the benefits? First, we disencumbered
our prospective defense budgets of $2.5 billion without fuss or fight in
Congress; this is no mean feat. Second, we sustained Rusk's formula: "I'm
not against the 'special relationship' until I can see something better to
take its place." Thereby we kept "somebody to talk to." Also we averted far
worse noises from our own Establishment than we have heard. A public breach
with Britain would not have come cheap at home. Besides, it might have cost
us dear abroad. We helped Macmillan squelch temptations toward Tory Gaullism.
But more than this, ve kept chips in our hands for later bargaining with
Harold Wilson, the likely next Prime Minister, should he ever be tempted

tovard Socialist Gaullism. This seems to me decidedly a benefit for us.
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Most Americans believe that such temptations have no substance, that
vhatever Tories -- or the Fabourites -- might threaten, neither could bring
off a British turn to anti-American continentalism. But Britain now is going
through a phase of doubt, uncertainty, over the shape and meaning "of it all”,
a mood not wholly different from what we are always hearing of West Germans.
Confidence about the "certitudes" of politics and policy may not be much more
warranted in one case than the other. If so, Nassau was prudent aﬁd prudence
a benefit. ‘

To underscore the point it is worth noting that a year ago, during the
Cuban crisis (until the worst was over), Oxford Dons who pride themselves on
"knowing America" ascribed our stanl to pre-election politics. It also is

vorth noting that in July Wilson told me:

"You Americens should understand that your support of
Macmillan's deterrent will make me take an anti-German
1ine. He is using the deterrent to play upon a widely-
diffused patriotic sentiment among men in the pubs. I
don't think this is as important as he does. I think
the election will turn on domestic issues. But it isn't
unimportant and I can't ignore it. So X shall have to

play upon another widely-diffused sentiment, the only
one available: anti-Germanism. I shall have to say
that we mst give up our deterrent to keep the bloody
Germans from getting theirs. One counters emotion with

emotion. I rather think the PM has the better line but

" T must take what is available. I know that Washington
won't like it but I hope your people understand that

they' ve left me no choice.”

If the then PM had got the "better line", might not Wilson once in office wish
to take it for his own, reducing outcries from the left by giving it an "anti-
capitalist” twist? Why would he not at least toy with this tactic? One need
neither dislike him nor "suspect? him to regard it as a tactic worth consider-
ation in his terms -- especially if he should find some continental Socialist
regimes witk which to make; or at least claim, a common cause. The -Anglo-
American relationship, sustained at Nassau, then would be a tie on him and

good for us. Of this more later.
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Taking costs and benefits together, I consider that our balance-sheet
looks reasonably good. Once Skybolt was a crisis between Washington and
London, hindsight fails to show me how we could have done much better in the flap
vhich then prevailed. This raises a next question: need it have become a
"erisis?" Before I turn to that, however, one.more note on benefits and costs:

in his own terms, whatever we may think of them, Macmillan's balance-sheet

looks better than ours.
Strategically, the Tories had at stake last fall the future of their

country, to say nothing of thei;' party's hold on office. The stakes remain,

and rise perhaps, since January 1. So we tend to see it. But tactically,

for Tories, the next best thing to joining EEC "on decent terms" was an out-
right rejection by DeGeulle. The next best thing to SKYBOLT was POLARIS. So,
at least, Macmillan evidently saw it. In the event he got his second-best.
Silence in November and a crisis in December helped him do it. Given DeGaulle's
stand at Rambouillet, Macmillan was in poor shape to achieve "first-best” on
Europe; without Nasseu he might well have had to sett.le for "third-best", a
dragged-out dea_th at Brussels which could seem his fault. And given our own
budgeting, he was in no shape to achieve "rirst-:best" on his deterrent. Under

these conditions and in this imperfect world, to have achieved his "second-best”

on both scores is not bad.
The M did not "plan it that way", to be sure. But none of his own actions

interfered with the result, and most of them contributed toward it, even that

long silence which annoys some of us still. On that he followed our example.

From our standpoint as strategists Macmillan's conduct may not measure
up to "his" strategic stakes, by which we usually mean our own attributed to
him. From his standpoint the at‘t:.ribution probably is faulty. How many
British politicians ever warmed to "strategy?" How many men in- English life

think such a thing worth having? Not many, I suspect, not anyway outside a
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few rooms in and near the Foreign Office and perhaps a few odd corners of the
House. Macmillan, I assume, did not frequent such places. "Strategy" for
him was evidently tantamount to general long-run hunches plus specifiic
short-run tac-tics. In terms of tactics, second-best looks good.
From a Tory point of view, the look might be still better if their PM
had claimed publicly that Nassau was & triumph of diplomacy, for "independence",

at our expense. But noises on that subject loud encugh to be convincing would

have seriously embarrassed us. Macmillan too paid something to sustain Anglo-
American relations, not least sitting on Thorneycroft but also keeping off the
theme that he "outwitted" Kennedy.

Unless Sir Alec Douglas-Home c;n pull a Truman on the pollsters, a key

issue for us in the next months of those relations becomes how to fashion

institutionalized substitutes for the cantankerous but sturdy pro-Americanism

of Macmillan. Or so it seems to me. Of this also, more later.

Now for that next question. Did there have to be a "orisis?" Almost
certainly there had to be some fuss. Macmillan's tactical dexterity b.rought
him to seek and buy a pig-in-a-poke at Camp David. McNamara's vigorous
pursuit of cost-effectiveness was bound, in time, to put us back on the
collision course his predecessor charted merely months after Camp David. The
P made what seems to me & classic error in high policy or politics: he pursued
objectives, diplomatic and political, disguised as something else, a military
posture, which was unconvincing on its face, in its own terms, and hard to
hold. We cannot be too critical of him; from 1960 into 1963 we did the same
with MIF. But this for us was not a dearest object, or nét then, while his
deterrent always had that quality for him. Once he tied it to our parsuit of

SKYBOLT, he embedded trouble in our mutusl relations.
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Trouble was rendered the more likely by our change of Administration,
vhich removed the men whg had dealt with Macmillan at Camp David. It was
rendered still more so by their deal's survival through one budget season
under each Administration. The third budget season coincided with a fall
in Tory fortunes and a turning-point at Brussels. Clearly, if we cancelled
there was bound to be at ieast a private fuss.

But need a private fuss have turned into a public cri'sis? The answer
probably is "umo." Throughout November 1962, before the press got into the
act, there were successive turning points at any one of which a different
course of conduct on somebody's part might have forestalled that” escalation.
Like all such instances this study .can be summarized, "for want of a nail, a

shoe was lost, for want of a shoe ...." and so forth. Readers will have

noted many moments when each actor might have done a little differently with

-

large results.

loose nails abound: At the White House, for example, had the President
preceded McNamara on the itranmsatlantic telephone November 9; or had Bundy put
His ovn mind and the President's to work on what Hawthorne was trying %o con-
vey; or had the President conveyed with emphasis to others. the procedural
assurance he gave Gore before Thanksgiving; or had he and Gore got down to
cases with each other then. At departme'ntal levels had Kohler gone to Moscow
three months later than he did; or had Rusk supplemented McNamara's word to
Bruce; or had Rusk ca‘]ied for better staff work on November 2hk; or had McNamara
been less busy after that; or had he shouldered what he knew to be his burden,
surfacing his difference of opinion with Rusk's staff. At both levels had Cuba
not occurred just when it did; or in its aftermath had McNamara‘'s "I'll take

care of it" carried a 11tt.1e less conviction to his auditors.
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"Missed opportunities" like these, small matters-of-the-moment, litter
the ground on ocur side and on London's side are others. In November the
British missed fewer than we did; they used their quota but had fewer to miss.
The initiativ—e was ours.

Some of these nails may not come loose "next time."” Experience conveys
its own correctives. Bundy and DeZulueta, for example, know each other better
than they did a year ago. From them and from their principals the private
phone has had a lot of use since last November. As a second example, McNamara
and Thorneycroft are not in the least likely to take one another for granted
again.

But might-have-dones are not cém:fined to momentary lapses at high levels.
At lower levels one finds more enduring problems. It is by no means certain
that experience has yet corrected these, or can.

One of the most revealing things in this entire story -- indicative of a
deep-seated problem -- is the State Department letter of "i{nstruction” to
Defense, the three-alternatives letter of November 24, TFor what this indicates
is that at upper official levels, where staff work was confined, State's
Tndians who took the lead in drafting neither grasped the "British problem”,
nor tooi: tijme for thought ébout it, npor faced upcto the dilemma it created
for their Chiefs: how Washington's objectives could be squared with London's
wants. By hindsight it is evident that they missed an extraordinary oppor-
tunity, had missed it for the three preceding weeks, would miss it for ...
the three weeks after that, and have not seen it yet: the 50-50 offer. Had
no one ever seen 1t I could not say that they "missed” it, but McNamara and

Rusk in turn came close, and then the President at last produced it for

himself.
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The virtue of the 50-50 offer was not that had it been made earlier the
British might have bought it; in terms of Hitch's tactics this could well be
judged a vice. Nor was its virtue that a timely offer might have brought the
Cabinet to dispense with their deterrent, thus -delighting every Indian in
sight. Despite the Blighs and Carys I.am ha.rd put to believe Macmillan would
have wanted what we dropped, on any terms. I am even harder put to think
that he could have been cornered by his Cabinet and deprived of his aeterrent
altogether. _

What I £ind entirely easy to believe is that if we had q?ade the 50-50
offer in November, Macmillan would }mve been at Nassau hat in hand, thanking
the President for generosity and asking could he please have scmething else.
It then should have been no trick to arrange joint-study while we both
vatched Brussels. If DeGaulle-had proved adamant on.EEC,' we could have given
Iondon the POLARIS at less cost. If he hed not, and Bméséls wére succeeding,
Iondon could have asked him to Join their side of the st:p‘d.y.- ' Cne thinks of
many variations on this theme, all likelier to meet our problem than the
three "ungenerous" options of November 2k.

The virtue of the 50-50 offer was precisely what the Presidenmt saw in it
and Gore used it for with half-success: a show of generosity so plain as to
preclude anti-Americanism while putting off POLARIS. EvenS in December that
virtue served us well, witness the effect on Thorneycroft. In November it
should have sufficed to spare us from or mute a pudblic crisis.

But in fact it toock the crisis to secure White House attention; it took
Kennedy himself to see the needed virtues and to find them in this offer at

the tag-end of the day. Where were the Indians meanwhile? They vere intent



121
on'Europe and on non-proliferation, comforting themselves with Bowie's happy
thought that they could use the President as though he were a bludgeon to be
wielded in support of their priorities. They scarcely gave a thought to his

priorities and still cannot conceive that theirs and his could be legitimately

different.

Superficially, the finger points to personalities. Since last November,
frequent repetition of the same sort of behavior has aroused harsh comment
about Buropean-oriented Indians in general end two in perticular: Schaetzel
and Owen.

These two have certain natura% advantages in drawing such attention to
themselves. Both are determined, dediéated public servants, with a vigorous
concern for public causes which the White House wuch admired when the Kennedy
Administration first came on the scene. They share a distinction among State
Department officers in higher ranks: they have managed to survive and rise
for many years without accepting the restraints of "Wrist&nization." They
share other distinctions also. Both men are articulate beyond the capabili-
ties of most associates. Both have enjoyed -- and still parade -- connections
in "high places", a matter still significant to many of their colleagues:
Schaetzel with Ball, Owen with Bundy. Bundy still is hard put to resist the
jure of Owen's interesting mind, clean prose, and indefatigable staff work.
Hardly anyone can. Ball's coincidence of purpose keeps his door open to
Schaetzel. Rostow, Owen's nominal superior, has status as a family friend.
Tvler, échaetzel's nominal superior, has status as cheese in a sandwich.

But "personelities" cannot suffice as explanation for enduring problems;
at any rate these personalities camnot. Gripes against "bureaucrats” now

rain upon their hesds. In the course of my interviewing, I havg_heard with
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frequency that "answers" lie in cutting off their heads. I doubt it. The
sources of those éripes run deeper than these men. Exile the two tomorrow
and the problem now attributed to M. will still remain. This is not to
argue what their next assignments ought to be. That is Secretary Ruék"s
business, not mine. This is to argue against action on false premises.

Consider my example of State's letter last November when the Indians
were actually these men. There are five things one can criticize in their per-
formance: a blinkered view of policy, limited perceptivity, low tolgrance for
listening, unconcern for feed-back, and a tendency to shove. It may be that a
 Schaetzel and an Owen, men of passion and frustration, are predisposed toward
'

these things. But heredity was certainly encouraged by environment. ILook at

each item on this list in turn:

First, these men brought to SKYBOLT as an issue, and to the consideration
of alternatives, their own policy perspectives. They ranked objectives and
assigned priorities by light of their official dutiles; their bureaucratic
interests, their personal ideas. But so did everybody else, a Nitze apd a
Rowen quite as much as they, to say nothing of others in this story. And
everybody had a warrant, or at least a bhunting-license, s:l.glned. by John F.
Kennedy, to certify his own views as "Administration poliey."

The "Policy Directive” of 1961 seems to be unique in this regime; one
may count one's blessings and be thankful for that. But even if the "Green
Book" had contained no ambiguities, there would have been enough of these in
Presidential speeches between May 1961 and July 1962, let alome the addresses.
of others. There were also ambiguities in private, to judge from many

' memoranda of conversations.
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Over issues so complex as those encompassed by our "“basic NATO policy" and
hopes for Burope, Presidents are bound to have divided minds, especially while
history has not disclosed to them where it is going. But when some sort of
Presidential label is affixed to several sides of most divisions, the pro-
ponents of them all are free to "hunt" as best they can. So they did In this
instance and so they t;rill in future. Policing is s White House Jjob, not theirs.
From the standpoint of the issuing suthority, some licenses may be better than
others. But why expect the licensees to read all that fine print'? He who draws
distinctions must enforce them (if he can). That is the law of this Jungle.

Second, our two bhunitsmen, Schat’atzel and Owen, did not perceive the
manifold considerations, other than their own, which were to be decisive for
their Chiefs. They did not read the fine print from the past, nor did they
ponder what might 1lie shead as it would lock to those who had been writing
fine. Mostly, these two men were satisfied to read what they had written. It
misled them. But almost everyone, regardless of location, <_1id something of
the same sort in th;_ts story. If an Owen and a Schaetzel missed vhat mattered
in Rusk's mind, a Rowen failed 1-'.0 fathom McNemara's. A little later Rostow
failed to sense what was essential for the President. On occasion even Bundy,
among the most perceptive actors on the stage, seems to have missed his cues
in that regard.

Part of the reason for these non-perceptions is that Chiefs, in self-
protection, tepd to veil their thoughts. The fine print is put in invisible
ink. This tendency seems strong, although not equal, in the Chiefs encountered
here. The President may confuse other staffs but evidently not his own, not

anyway when they take pains to probe his mind. From what I hear and reed he
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is the best "de-briefer" of the three. His thoughts as well as actions seem
available for reading by associates of Bundy's sort, if rather more at their
option than his: what happened in the case of those assurances to Gore?

The Secretary of Defense appears somewhat less open even with his personal
associates, to say nothing of others'. 'Ihis- story shows him as a selective
"de-briefer", who_selectively turns off (or on) his confidences, witness Nitze,
Rowen, Yarmolinsky in Novembe.r and December. '

As for the Secretary of State, he literally has no counterpartq to Bundy
or to McNamara's men, no personal associates whom he can call his ovn. And
with the departmental officers who .serve as substitutes, he evidently tends to
do as on November 24 (and on September 8). He questions and he listens; only
under provocation does he spesk his mind. Apparently this 15 so rare that
when it happens what he says may get the treatment his words got at Paris: in

-

one ear and out the other, rationalized away.

Third, State's non-perceivers of what mattered to their Chiefs also were
non-li..r,teners for what mattered to others. These amount to the same tendency
at work on different fronts. Who listened hard for hints from British sources?
Who listened hard for hints from Pentagon sources? Who listened hard to dis-
sidents inside the State Department? Not Schaetzel or Owen. They were
influenced by Bowie who was saying vwhat they wisﬁed. to hear. They also
listened long enough to Rowen and to Bundy to catch whatever reinforced their
own perceptions. It seems that their ears were.not closed, merely selectiﬁ.

But throughout this story, listening in a selective fashion is typical of
activists with operating jobs: McNemara's listening seems similarly selective,
if rather more sophisticated. So does Ball's. By State Department standards,

Schaetzel has an operating job. On paper Owen has a staff job, but he is so
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useful to so many operators that the term "staff" as applied to him draws
a distinetion without a difference. Both are activists, and both were
"operating.” They may have overdone their selectivity, but ears like theirs
seem standard for the men who play such parts.

In this story's cast of characters the most sensitive ear apparently
belongs to Tyler, ostensibly esnother operating officer who heard so well that
in effect he ceased to operate. The most patient listener undoubtedly was
Rusk. No doubt he found a gain in this; he also paid a price. The next best
listeners -- aside from a few scientists -- were evidently Bundy ;nd Rowen.
The term "staff" haé some meaning in their instances; they had the duty. As
one task among many, they undertook %o look-and-listen for their Chiefs.
Unhappily, they diﬁ not look or-listen long at corners.

The moral seems to be that listening and operating are distinctive tasks
vhich do not fit together very well. No doubt there are some Renaissance Men
equipped by temperament to do both things at omce with equal skill. But I
see nothing to suggest that there are many, not enough to staff the State
Department. If so, it makes no sense to blame State's operators for not
listening.

Fourth, these operators thought about our conduct toward Great Britain
in entirely different terms than we would use -- or at least tell ourselves
to use -- aboutna comparable act against the interests of a hostile country.
There are, of course, real differences; Britain is our closest "friend."
There also are some critical similerities. These seem to have gone almost
unrecognized when State framed iys altefnative for SKYBOLT. But State was

not alone in this. Owen and Schaetzel were two among many; Rowen with others



126
was in their company; also Bundy, to say nothing of the President. Above the
jevel of the British desk, which wrote in vain, the company included most of
Washington.

Had Britain seemed more "enemy"” than "friend"” a likely question in
November would have been: if we hurt them what harm can they do us? Had
Britain been both hostile and powerful -- a Russia -- no doubt we then would
have pursued that question carefully; the possibilities of harm become’ immense
and obvious. But Britain being Britain nobody pursued that questionm, carefully
or otherwise. And yet, in the event, the harm we felt might follow i“rom a
public breach with Britain quite sufficed to satisfy our Chiefs that they must
do precisely what their Indiams wer€ trying to prevent. In November if the
question had occasioned thought, this might have been foreseen.

By hindsight it is clear that what the framers of alterpatives required
in November was at once an understanding of reactions to our warning and a fore-
cast of responses to the options we were framing: feed-back on the one and
estimation of the other. The harm Britain might do to us depended on two
things: how certain politicians would perceive what we had done, and how
th;y then would calculate their means to counter us -- in terms of their own

stakes as they conceived them. Our chance to minimize the harm, or ward it

off, depended on two more things: how we shaped their view of what we were
about, and how we influenced the stakes they weighed in their own calculations.
If we were in the habit of appraising friends as enemies, these things would
have been in our minds as early as FNovember. But we do not have that. habit

and such things were out-of-mind, for Owen and for Schaetzel and for all of

their superiors.
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A1l knew that we were pure in heart and meant no harm to Britain; we
assumed our friends would know this because we did. Can one blame Indians
for sharing the assumptions of their Chiefs? Especially vhile one complains
of their insensitivity to what Chiefs think? |

But even had subordinates attempted to pursue the question of what harm
our friends might do us, it is far from clear that in November they -- at
Tndian-level -- could have got the information for an answer. The President
might have lesrned something on the telephone, and so might Rusk ‘or Bundy.
Bruce might have learned something face-to-face. From Indian to Indian,
however, from the State Department .to our Foreign Service Officers in Iondon,
there was little they could learn. For the calculations of a Thorneycroft or
a Macmillan include matters on which FSOs are generaily uninformed, unused to
seeking information, poorly placed to get it: personal stakes, procedural

stakes, bureaucratic and political stakes, as seen within the close confines

of Whitehall.

If my experience is any guide, the keenest students of such matters are
a handful of officials, mostly Treasury not Foreign Office, scattered through
top reaches of their govermment. Who in our Embassy deals intimately with
them? Our people there suffer three disadvantages: they won no "firsts" at
Oxford or Cambridge or equivalent, they wear a "Foreign Office" label, and
they have but little feeling for our "Preasury-types” or for our bureaucratic-
politics as practiced outside State. A Bundy, I daresay, would soon learn
every secret in the Cabinet Office and the Private Office; he looks so irres-
istably like one of theirs to them. We have no Bundys at our Embeesy in
Iondon. For that matter we have none on Tyler's staff in Washington. Nor

have we any shittling back and forth.
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Had London been Moscow, the Kremlinologists would have come out in force
during November. Where were our Whitehall-olog-is;ts? They scarcely exist.

Fifth and finally, our two Indians proved hard to "manage.” In
November they went after what they wanted with the drive and single-mindedness
they later would display on MLF. Their immediate superiors were passive as
this happened; Tyler kept his counsel, Rostow worked on other things. Indians
with dissident opinions were outflanked or shoved aside. The Secretéry of
State, whose later conduct shows that he had mental reservations, saddled their
blinkered horse for them and told his colleague at Defense to ride. The
Secretary of Defense agreed to do it, fingers crossed. Why? Ansvers go
beyond the operating style of Schae'tzel or of Qwen.

What this suggests is what these criticisms all suggest, that the main
"missed opportunity” in this affair turns on two individuals whose conduct was
conditioned by the operating styles of everybody else, emphaticaaj_'l.y including
Tyler, Rostow, Ball, Rusk, McNamara, Bundy, and the President.

If this is a failure in management look to the managers, the Secretaries
and the White House above all.

In the course of this story, esfecially its Nasssu phase, the President
attempted what he later tried with MLF, to trace a rather subtle line of
action through competing aspirations which were unresolved and unresolvable
until time clarified unknowns. Such endeavors are impressive, at least to
me, and very Presidential. But from a btureaucratic point of view they are

almost unbesrable; the pain they cause is real.

Our contemporary big bureauvcracy is a blunt instrument, effectively

responsive to blunt challenges when gripped by a blunt poliey.” Its character

was shaped in World War and in Cold War. To wield it on behalf of subtlety
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against diffuse and contradictory challenges is an exceedingly hard task of
management. It is not rendered easier by the peculiar interlock of operating
styles suggested in this story.

Still, as we approach the fourth year of a first term I would not urge
busy men, with the responsibilities of governing and re-election on their
backs, to worry overmuch about their operating styles. Self-consciousness may
help, perhaps this story can induce it. But blame or mea culpas would be
silly. This was not a disaster, after all. Everybody's "vices" are the
obverse of his virtues; on the showing of this story virtues dominate.
"Management improvement" is no pearl to be discovered by restyling all our
topmost personnel. (Besides, how wbuld one go about it?) The same thing cen
be said of structure and procedure at their level. On the showing of this
story, none of these requires change and change would work no miracles.

From 'Skybolt' as an issue in our policy_-making I drav a simple lesson:
regardless of strﬁctures or procedures, much of what occurred here will ocecur
again. How much depends upon the vigilance (and luck) of individuals,
especially of those who have the duty to protect their Chiefs, a Bundy at the
White House and his counterparts elsewhere. Throughout this story most of
what went wrong cast shadows in advance. There was no lack of clues; the
lack was time, or thought, to pick them up and read them. Bundy, in partic-
ular, is an accomplished juggler of wany balls at once. He juggles while he
skates, and skates so fast that even in a close-up like this story he himself
remains a blur -- which is as it should be with a staff officer. But sometimes
one .ball or another crunches thrgugh the ice; recovery is costly. Ome wonders
vhether Bundy might not need a Bundy of his own. Whether he could use one is

another matter. I am inclinmed to doubt it; he also needs (and likes) to
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travel light. However that may be, avoiding other "Skybolts" is a problem,
day by &ew, for men in Bundy's line of work. If there are no such men at
State, if at Defense they are turned on-and-off, the larger the problem for
Burdy.

“Management improvement” means more-of-the-same but better done. This
problem will not yield to institution-building.
"Skybolt" as an issue in Anglo-American relations is on a different

footing. My study does suggest a high pi'iority for thought and work on

institution-building with the British. Bilateral relationships are frowned

on in some quarters lest they become “"exclusive.” I do not see why they
should. JIf we now need institution;lized substitutes for Macmillan, the
Germans stil) appear to need such substitutes for Dulles. We ought to work
on both. While we are waiting for .our own election, apnd for theirs, and for
Paris, and for Rome to clarify the "Europe” we shell deal with in a second
term, this sort of work appears to me decidedly worth doing.

Where might we put our thoughts? Not into over-arching mechanisms,
shadow énterprises , or another set of staffs at NATO (2 place with all the
verve of our Department of Commerce). Already we have more than enough of
these. Raj;her , T suggest, we ought to think about unpublicized Joint ventures,
govermment to govermment, which actually put buresucrats to work on matters

relevant for them and for their Ministers in the internal conduct of each

government -- and so affect the stakes a Ministry will weigh as it participates
in shaping national policy.

Our money and our weaponry have ceased to be decisive; if we wish a
steady influence upon "alliance policy”, which is but a reflection of national

decisions, we mist get down to the boiler rooms where such decisions start.
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We need to help each fireman do what matters to him, until at last he cannot
think of shovelling without us. Of coﬁrse he will not think it if he has not
been inside our boiler room and found it useful in his business to be there.
I see no_poix-xt in starting a "Jjoint venture” which we are not ready to pursue
in common at decision-making levels. Anything else is "Jjoint" a la SKYBOLT,
which was not Jo_int a'f'. all and surely is a model not to follow.

Assuming we can contemplate some gemuine joint ventures, two spheres
suggest themselves for careful exploration: research-and-development and
defense budgeting.

If a Labour Govermment takes o'ff:l.ce in Great Britain, the uniform
impression I have gained from shadow-ministers is that they look to us for
psychic satisfaction in the form of "consultation." They think of their in-
heritance, POLARIS, as their trading-stock. But I doubt that it can buy them
vhat they want. What they talk of wenting seems to me a lot less satisfying
in office ;.han out: Ministers of State attendant on the President, staff
officers attendant on the JCS, and so forth. These evidently mesn more to &
shadow-government than e resl Govermment is likely to find in them. The more
one knows about our crisis operations and "war plans", the less there is to
dignify the. shadow-;concepts of those shadow-ministers.

Disillusion, I suspect, will follow the enlightemment obtaimable in
office. Before that time arrives it would be helpful if there were g wide
variet:;r of ventures under way between our govermments, which civil servants
knew to be, and Ministers would find to be, of use in their own vork and
also ours. Budgeting and "R-and=D" are a far cry from Great Decisions; this

is to their advantage. Down in the depths of govermmental processes where
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incremental choices year by year shape later options day by day, Joint ventures
offer something real to buttress "~onsultation.” Ministers and their machines
might gain a lot from this, and we as well: +their stakes become our ties on
their Prime Minister. |

_ With Britain we have numerous connections even now, many of them relics
of the War, some new, some in the talk-stage. These span more spheres than
defense and include intelligence. In some spheres, notably defense, the talk
of new departures both at Whitehall and the Pentagon is well advanced. But so
far as I have found, on casual inquiry, present connections and proposed ones
are uneven. Some may engage real in.terests , create stakes, for key officlals
in both governments. Most apparently do not. Many seem to wander in & vacuum,
disconnected from decisions by the national establishments. Some are invisible
at a first glance.

As a guide to institution-building with the British, it may be well to
survey what is now in place or planned, and why 1t grew, and how it works, to

whose advantage in both govermments. A survey of that sort might show some

fatal flaws in trying to make any such bureauvcratized joint ventures serve the
political purpose sketched above. If so, T would be sorry but inclined to try
again. We then showld look for other means to "institutionalize Macmillan.'
The need remains.

That need is the main lesson I draw from "Skybolt" as an issue in our
foreign relations. By extension I would guess that it applies no less to

institution-building with the Germans.



